Alice's Adventures in Wonderland Study Guide

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland by Lewis Carroll

The following sections of this BookRags Literature Study Guide is offprint from Gale's For Students Series: Presenting Analysis, Context, and Criticism on Commonly Studied Works: Introduction, Author Biography, Plot Summary, Characters, Themes, Style, Historical Context, Critical Overview, Criticism and Critical Essays, Media Adaptations, Topics for Further Study, Compare & Contrast, What Do I Read Next?, For Further Study, and Sources.

(c)1998-2002; (c)2002 by Gale. Gale is an imprint of The Gale Group, Inc., a division of Thomson Learning, Inc. Gale and Design and Thomson Learning are trademarks used herein under license.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Encyclopedia of Popular Fiction: "Social Concerns", "Thematic Overview", "Techniques", "Literary Precedents", "Key Questions", "Related Titles", "Adaptations", "Related Web Sites". (c)1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Guide to Literature for Young Adults: "About the Author", "Overview", "Setting", "Literary Qualities", "Social Sensitivity", "Topics for Discussion", "Ideas for Reports and Papers". (c)1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

All other sections in this Literature Study Guide are owned and copyrighted by BookRags, Inc.



Contents

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland Study Guide	1
<u>Contents</u>	2
Introduction.	4
Overview	5
Author Biography	6
About the Author	8
Plot Summary	10
Chapter 1	13
Chapter 2	16
Chapter 3	18
Chapter 4	20
Chapter 5	22
Chapter 6	24
Chapter 7	26
Chapter 8	28
Chapter 9	30
Chapter 10	32
Chapter 11	33
Chapter 12	35
<u>Characters</u>	37
Setting	47
Social Sensitivity	48
Literary Qualities	49
Themes	52
Style	<u>54</u>



Historical Context	<u>56</u>
Critical Overview	<u>59</u>
Criticism.	61
Critical Essay #1	62
Critical Essay #2	65
Critical Essay #3	70
Adaptations	74
Topics for Further Study	7 <u>6</u>
What Do I Read Next?	77
Topics for Discussion.	78
Ideas for Reports and Papers	79
Further Study	80
Related Websites	83
Bibliography	84
Convright Information	85



Introduction

Lewis Carroll's book *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* was not originally written for the general public but for a single child: Alice Pleasance Liddell, second daughter of the Dean of Christ Church College, Oxford. The story of its composition, as Carroll recorded it in the prefatory verses to *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*, goes something like this: On a warm summer afternoon (July 4, 1862, according to Carroll's diary) the author, his friend Reverend Robinson Duckworth, and the three young Liddell sisters (Lorina Charlotte, age thirteen, Alice Pleasance, age ten, and Edith, age eight), daughters of the Dean of Christ Church College, Oxford, made a short trip up the Thames River in a rowboat. "The trip," explains Martin Gardner in his *The Annotated Alice*, "was about three miles, beginning at Folly Bridge, near Oxford, and ending at the village of Godstow. 'We had tea on the bank there,' Carroll recorded in his diary, 'and did not reach Christ Church again till quarter past eight...." "Seven months later," Gardner continues, "he added to this entry the following note: 'On which occasion I told them the fairy-tale of Alice's adventures underground."

According to an account written many years later by Alice Liddell, she pestered Carroll —the pseudonym for mathematician and dean Charles Lutwidge Dodgson—to write the story down for her. "She 'kept going on, going on' at him," explains Morton N. Cohen in his critical biography *Lewis Carroll*, "until he promised to oblige her. For one reason or another, however, it took him two and a half years to deliver the completed manuscript, illustrated with his own drawings." Between the time that Carroll began work on the manuscript and the time that he completed it, he had lost the friendship of the Liddells. He had also shown the manuscript to his friends Mr. and Mrs. George MacDonald, who read it to their children and urged Carroll to publish the story. Working through friends, Carroll found a publisher—Macmillan of London—and an illustrator, noted cartoonist John Tenniel. The first edition of *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* was published in June of 1865. However, Tenniel objected to some sloppy reproduction work of his illustrations in the printing, and Carroll agreed to cancel the entire press run of two thousand copies and to print a new press run of another two thousand copies at his own expense. This early, flawed edition of the novel is now considered one of the rarest books in the world and commands huge prices among collectors.

"Alice's Adventures in Wonderland," writes Cohen, "was widely reviewed and earned almost unconditional praise. Charles's diary lists nineteen notices." Sales were high and many foreign editions were quickly authorized. Inspired by the book's success, Carroll began work on a sequel, Through the Looking-Glass and What Alice Found There, published in 1872. The two Alice books remain in print today, over a century after their publication. They remain, next to the Bible and the works of Shakespeare, among the world's most widely translated works of literature. Translations are available in over seventy languages, including Yiddish and Swahili.



Overview

In 1865, Macmillan published Carroll's novel, Alice's Adventures in Wonderland, which included forty-two illustrations reprinted from John Tenniel's original woodblocks of art. In this work, Carroll's imagination takes readers with Alice into a wonderful journey. He fills the novel with situations from the mundane to the silly; the ordinary to the extraordinary. The tale begins when Alice falls down a rabbit-hole, beginning a thrilling adventure. To overcome the obstacles she encounters along the way, Alice uses magic potions, cakes, and mushrooms to change from small to large and back again so that she can travel through Wonderland. She meets odd creatures, such as a Mock Turtle, a March Hare, a Dormouse, and the King and Queen of Hearts. They challenge and delight Alice.

Alice, as if dreaming, flits from activity to activity, attending a mad tea party, a game of croquet, and a courtroom proceeding.

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland captures the readers' imagination through Carroll's good humor and nonsensical verse.



Author Biography

Reverend Charles Lutwidge Dodgson, who wrote under the pseudonym Lewis Carroll, was one of the most creative writers of children's fantasy in the history of literature. His two most famous books, *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and Through the Looking-Glass and What Alice Found There* (1872), are listed among the greatest and most influential books ever written in English. Dodgson is praised as a genius who fused his own love of word-games and logic puzzles with a genuine love of and sympathy for children. His two *Alice* books remain popular with both adults and children, and they have been interpreted by critics as guides to a Victorian childhood, as well as sophisticated treatises on philosophy, logic, and mathematics.

Dodgson was born in Daresbury, Cheshire, England, in 1832. He was the eldest son and third child of Reverend Charles Dodgson, a clergyman in the Church of England, and his wife Francis Jane Lutwidge. He came from a large family, numbering eleven children, and was often charged with the task of amusing his younger sisters - which may help explain how he developed his love of games and his devotion to little girls. His father educated him at home and at Richmond Grammar School, thus he received a thorough background in literature and mathematics. In 1846, he entered Rugby School, which at the time was not a healthy place for a sensitive young man to be. Dodgson was hazed and bullied unmercifully - perhaps another factor in his adult preference for the company of little girls - but he maintained very high academic standards. In 1851 he entered Christ Church College of Oxford University, and in 1854 he received his undergraduate degree. The honors he received there earned him a lifetime fellowship and a residency at Christ Church, provided he became a clergyman of the Church of England and take a vow not to marry.

Up to two years before his death in 1898, Dodgson lived and worked at Oxford University. By 1857, he had begun publishing both mathematical treatises and essays on logic, but even these dry academic writings were marked by his quirky sense of humor, whimsy, and fun. He also developed a passion for photography, which at that time was a very new and very complex process. In 1856, a combination of his interest in photographing little girls and his job at Christ Church brought him into the company of Dean Henry George Liddell, Dean of Christ Church. The Dean's second daughter, Alice Pleasance, was four years old at the time. Dodgson quickly made friends with Alice's sisters Lorina (three years older) and Edith (two years younger). On July 4, 1862, the four of them, in company with Reverend Robinson Duckworth, took a boat trip up the Thames River. As they traveled upstream, Dodgson told the story that would become Alice's Adventures in Wonderland to Alice Liddell. She later recorded that she was so enchanted with the story that she demanded he write it down for her. He did so, and on November 26, 1864, he presented a handwritten and self-illustrated copy of the story to her, under the title Alice's Adventures Under Ground.

Dodgson published *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*, an expanded version of the original tale with illustrations by cartoonist John Tenniel, in 1865. It sold so well that in 1872 he published a sequel, *Through the Looking-Glass and What Alice Found There*.



These two works, along with his long poem *The Hunting of the Snark: An Agony in Eight Fits* (1876), established his reputation as a writer of nonsense verse and children's fiction. So successful were the sales of the books that Dodgson was able to use the money from them to fund his later publications, including *Sylvie and Bruno* (1889) and *Symbolic Logic* (1895). By the time of his death in 1898, the two *Alice* books had sold over 180,000 copies in England alone, and by 1911 about 700,000 copies were in print worldwide.



About the Author

Born on January 27, 1832, in Daresbury, Cheshire, a small English town, Charles Lutwidge Dodgson (pronounced "Dodson") was the eldest son of Reverend Charles Dodgson and Frances Jane Lutwidge. His parents, both socially well-connected cousins belonging to families with strong traditions of service to the Anglican Church and to the Crown, gave birth to four boys, including Dodgson, and seven girls.

Dodgson's father, Rector of Daresbury, held a zealous sense of obligation for the church. He worked for the parish poor, ran a Sunday school, organized lectures, increased the congregation's size, and started a mission among the barge folk working on a canal. As a classical scholar, Dodgson's father published religious books and became the appointed Chaplain to the Bishop of Ripon. Later he became the Bishop of Ripon and finally a Canon of Ripon Cathedral. A powerful father to Dodgson, his "Papa" bestowed on him a sense of wit and humor, the significance of deep faithfulness, and good judgment in business.

Dodgson's "Mama," Frances Jane Lutwidge, was a very sweet and gentle woman. Her letters to Dodgson flowed with affection. Her gentleness balanced the sterner qualities of her husband. According to John Pudney in Lewis Carroll and His World, some believe that Dodgson's mother brought to his life the daydreams that never left him, thus contributing to his success with fairy-tales.

At the age of twelve, Dodgson's parents sent him to a boys' school in Richmond where he composed Latin verses and wrote stories for the school magazine. As a child, Dodgson also made pets of odd and unlikely animals, including snails and toads.

It is not surprising that he developed the interesting and unusual creatures found in his fairy-tales. He inherited his good looks from his father, and dressed neatly, always wearing a top hat and gloves, which he wore outdoors both summer and winter. In fact, the lack of his gloves would cause the sort of anxiety echoed in the anguish of the White Rabbit in Alice's Adventures in Wonderland.

He attended Rugby School in 1846 and did well in his studies. In 1850, he entered Christ Church College, Oxford. He planned to follow his father's example and become a clergyman, but his stutter handicapped him.

Instead, he spent his life teaching, and occasionally preached a sermon. He received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Oxford University, in 1854. The following year, he became "Master of the House." His duties included lecturing in mathematics and teaching private pupils. In 1856, Charles Dodgson adopted his pen name from the Latin forms of his first and middle names. Dodgson became Lewis Carroll, a master of "nonsense" verse, fairy tales, and mathematical puzzles.

Carroll earned a Master of Arts in 1857 and continued to teach at Christ Church, Oxford, where he remained for the rest of his life as a faculty member in mathematics.



In 1861, the Church of England ordained Carroll as a Deacon. He authored books for children, mathematical treatises, and invented games of mathematics and logic. He became an amateur artist, illustrator, and portrait photographer, particularly of children. Carroll contributed to a small paper, The Comic Times, which later became 77K Train.

On July 4, 1862, Carroll wrote in his diary that he had taken a river expedition to Godstow with three Liddell girls, children of the Dean of Christ Church, and friend Duckworth. During that journey, Alice, one of the children, asked, "Tell us a story, please." Therefore, he did. Then she asked him to write it. He did. Alice's Adventures in Wonderland was born, first as Alice's Adventures Under Ground, and then Alice's Hour in Elfland. As he wrote it, Carroll said he added "many fresh ideas, which seemed to grow of themselves upon the original stock; and many more added themselves when years afterwards, I wrote it all over again for publication." In 1864, he called it Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and he asked John Tenniel to illustrate it.

Always a bachelor, Carroll followed a routine that included taking long country walks, telling his companions stories, and explaining logical problems. He took emotionally uplifting river excursions, played games of croquet, and took one trip around England, a few trips to the north, and one visit to Russia - the only trip abroad.

The author wrote and published throughout his life, driving his talents and his pen hard. He lived simply and distributed his income where it could assist children to go on stage or help friends in need. Carroll died from influenza on January 27, 1898, and is buried in the Old Guildford Cemetery. The white cross on his grave says, "Thy Will Be Done." At the suggestion of a young friend, Children's Hospital donated a cot in his memory.



Plot Summary

Chapters 1-3: Down the Rabbit Hole

After a short verse prologue, in which he commemorates the day on which he first told his tale, Lewis Carroll begins *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* with a familiar episode: Alice is sitting by the bank of a stream, bored, when she notices the White Rabbit dressed in a waistcoat scurrying along. The rabbit stops to pull a pocket watch out of its waistcoat pocket, mutters to itself that it will be late for something, then scurries off and disappears down a hole. Alice follows the rabbit down the hole, and suddenly finds herself falling, though not so fast that she is in any danger of being injured when she lands.

She catches sight of the rabbit after she lands, but soon loses it again, and finds herself in a dark hallway. All of the doors in the hallway, she discovers, are locked; she then comes upon a small table with a tiny key on it, which enables her to open a small door she hadn't seen before, which leads into a garden. She goes back to the table, and this time finds there a bottle labeled "DRINK ME." She does just that, and shrinks to a size where she can fit through the small door. However, she has left the key on the table, and is now too short to reach it. Reduced to tears, she soon collects herself, then sees a small box under the table with a small cake in it labeled "EAT ME." Again, she follows instructions, and is soon nine feet tall. She begins crying again, filling the hallway with a pool of tears several inches deep. The White Rabbit comes and goes again, dropping a fan and pair of gloves. Clutching the fan, Alice eventually shrinks again, but is unable to go into the garden as the door has closed and locked, and the key is once again on the table.

Alice then slips and falls into the pool of tears. She sees the Mouse swimming by, begins talking to it, offends it a couple of times, but manages to coax it back, and soon they swim to the bank of the pool (the hallway having vanished). Joined there by several other creatures, they eventually engage in a "caucus-race" (that is, they simply run around for a while) in order to dry off. Some conversation follows, but it ends abruptly when Alice mentions her cat, and frightens the other creatures away.

Chapters 4-7: Learning the Ropes in Wonderland

The White Rabbit then appears again, and mistaking Alice for his servant, orders her to go fetch him another fan and pair of gloves. Alice obeys, soon finds the rabbit's house, enters it, and going upstairs finds what she is looking for. She also finds a small bottle, drinks half of its contents, and grows until she fills the room. The rabbit returns, and eventually a lizard named Bill is sent down the chimney of the house, presumably to drive Alice out. Alice manages to thrust her foot into the fireplace and kick Bill back up the chimney. The rabbit then determines that the house must be burned down. Alice finds some cakes on the floor of the room, eats enough to shrink herself to the point that



she can get out of the house, and then escapes from the white rabbit and the other animals into a forest.

After an encounter with a giant puppy (Alice again being far smaller than her "normal" size), she comes upon the Caterpillar sitting on a large mushroom smoking a hookah (water pipe). The Caterpillar asks her several questions about her identity that reduce her to confusion; then, as it is leaving, it tells her that by eating opposite sides of the mushroom it was sitting on, she will either grow or shrink. She experiments with pieces from both sides, and soon has more or less mastered the process.

Determined to find the garden again, she instead comes upon a small house. After a confusing conversation with a frog-footman, she enters the house and encounters a chaotic scene: a Duchess is nursing a baby boy, who is crying, and a cook is making soup, and occasionally throwing pots and dishes across the room. Because the cook has put far too much pepper into the soup, the air in the room is full of it, causing Alice and the others to sneeze frequently. The Cheshire Cat makes its first appearance here. Eventually the Duchess gives Alice the baby to nurse, as she has to get ready to play croquet with the Queen. Alice takes the baby out of the house, only to watch it turn into a pig. She then sees the Cheshire Cat perched on the limb of a tree, and goes up to it to ask its advice.

The Cat soon disappears, and Alice comes upon the mad tea party scene from *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*. After offending some of the creatures she encounters there, it is now her turn to be offended: she receives no tea during her stay there, and eventually receives one insult too many, and leaves in a huff. She then comes again into the hallway she had been in when she first arrived in Wonderland, and from there manages to get into the "beautiful garden."

Chapters 8-10: Alice in the Garden

Alice first encounters a curious spectacle: some playing cards are painting some white roses red. They are doing so, she learns, because red roses were supposed to have been planted there, and if the Queen of Hearts were to discover the mistake, they would have their heads cut off. Just then the Queen and King of Hearts come by, and the Queen does indeed sentence them to be beheaded, though Alice hides them, so that the sentence is never carried out.

The Queen then invites Alice to play croquet. The match is played with flamingos for mallets and hedgehogs for balls, and is predictably chaotic. The Cheshire Cat appears and creates some further confusion. Alice has a brief conversation with the Duchess whose baby she had watched turn into a pig earlier, then after some more croquet, the Queen recommends to Alice that she meet the Mock Turtle. Alice goes off to meet him in the company of a Gryphon. They talk first about education, then Alice hears the "Lobster Quadrille," and is asked to repeat certain poems she knows, which come out quite differently from the way she expects them to. Soon they hear the cry, "The trial's beginning!" and the Gryphon hurries Alice away.



Chapters 11-12: The Trial and the Return

When they arrive at the courtroom, the trial of the Knave (i.e., Jack) of Hearts, accused of having stolen some tarts made by the Queen, is just beginning. (The episode is based on a familiar nursery rhyme.) The participants in the trial include many of the creatures Alice has already encountered. As with the croquet match, it progresses in a chaotic, absurd fashion. Over the course of the trial, Alice begins to grow again, and with her increased size she grows increasingly bold, and points out more and more frequently the absurdity of the proceedings. Eventually the Queen of Hearts orders that her head be cut off, to which Alice replies that as they are nothing but playing cards, she is not afraid of them. At that point, all the cards fly at her, and she wakes up—her adventures in Wonderland have been a dream.

Alice tells her older sister about her dream, and her sister reflects on how Alice herself will soon grow up. She expresses to herself the wish that Alice might "keep, through all her riper years, the simple and loving heart of her childhood."



Chapter 1 Summary

The story begins with Alice sitting by her sister on the bank of a lake. Bored with the looking at her sister's book because it has no pictures, she grows sleepy. At that moment, a white rabbit dashes by, consulting his pocket watch and fretting about being late. At the time she sees nothing strange about this, but because she has never before seen a rabbit wearing a coat and carrying a watch, she immediately jumps up and follows him down a deep rabbit hole. Soon Alice is falling down what seems to be a bottomless pit.

It appears that "the well was very deep or she fell very slowly." So Alice has time, while falling, to study the sides of the well. These contain shelves with books, maps and various edibles that tempt her, but a jar marked "Orange Marmalade" turns out to be empty. She returns it carefully to a different shelf, so as to not drop it on anyone below. To pass the time and keep herself calm, Alice begins talking to herself, thinking how brave everyone will think her at home once they've heard of her adventure.

Alice also tries to cope with the bizarre situation by reasoning. Assuming that she's getting close to the center of the earth, she calculates how far she must have fallen, and even tries to determine her latitude and longitude, in spite of not knowing what these words actually mean. Yet since no one is there to appreciate her learning, or correct her mistakes, she just continues to wonder about her fate in a rambling, nonsensical way. What country will she encounter on the other side of the earth, and will they be walking upside down, she asks herself. How will she manage to curtsy while flying through the air, and how will she ask the name of the country without looking stupid?

To comfort herself, she reminisces about her home and her cat, Dinah, whom she wishes was with her. Could her pet manage to catch a bat in the air, she muses. "Do cats eat bats," she asks, and alternately, "Do bats eat cats?" Yet since she can't answer either question, the narrator points out, it's irrelevant which way around she asks it.

Alice's fall comes to an abrupt stop when she lands on a pile of dry leaves. Unhurt, she follows the rabbit into a long corridor. She finds herself alone in a well-lit hall full of locked doors on all sides, with no way out. A moment of anxiety is relieved when she finds a little golden key on a glass table; unfortunately this key fails to fit any of the doors. Yet when she looks a second time, she discovers a tiny door has appeared, the one for which the key is made. The door opens to reveal the loveliest garden she has ever seen, which she yearns to stroll around in. Sadly however, she is much too large to fit through the door. Wishing she could shut herself up like a telescope, Alice wanders around in search of a way to shrink herself down.

Sure enough, on the glass table appears a small bottle that says, "Drink Me." Having been taught not to consume just any unknown substance, Alice wisely checks the bottle



for any labels marked 'poison.' Finding no such warning, she polishes off the liquid, noting that it tastes of many incompatible things, including custard, roast turkey, toffee, and buttered toast. And soon she is indeed shutting up like a telescope, until her height is just ten inches tall.

Her joy at being able to walk through the garden door is cut short as soon as she recalls that she'd left the key on the table, which is now far too high for her to reach. She sits down to cry for a long time, until finally she begins to scold herself for weeping and orders herself to stop immediately. (The narrator points out that Alice has a habit of talking with herself as if she were two people, even going to far as to hurt her own feelings at times. Alice takes her own advice and stops crying, whereupon she notices a tiny cake under the table that bears the provocative invitation, "Eat me." Alice nibbles the cake expectantly. When nothing happens right away, she devours it completely.

Chapter 1 Analysis

Lewis Carroll's *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* is arguably the most widely read children's book ever written. The enduring popularity of the story may be due to the author's extraordinary inventiveness in creating a completely absurd reality which nevertheless maintains some recognizability. The whimsical events in the tale are held together by a certain logic which is sometimes so rigorous as to become perfectly absurd.

The book not only tells of a fantastic place, it tells the story in language which is full of puns, logical puzzles, and satirical renditions of children's rhymes and songs. The characters are tangentially related to real life figures, and are prone to forgetting or questioning their identities, reasoning in a dreamlike logic, and making absurd requests. While some find it a charming and innocent example of inventiveness, others have pointed out that the book can be seen as an illogical, unstable alternative world where communication generally fails and no stable foundations can be established.

In Wonderland, laws of nature do not always hold. Yet even though the narrator toys with the idea that time itself might have slowed down, that is, that the basic physical laws of the universe might not be the same, it is striking that other ordinary features of daily life remain exactly the same. For instance, the walls of the very deep well display perfectly ordinary objects, like maps and jars of conserves. In a similar vein, Alice tries to adapt her typical everyday manners to her new and bizarre setting, when she wonders how she will curtsy to the people on the opposite surface of the globe. Carroll's sharp juxtaposition of otherworldly circumstances and perfectly conventional, even trite responses adds to the humor and surprise of the entire story.

The narrator, a rather wise and ironic commentator on Alice's adventures, seems to know her character rather well, even more than she does herself. He is familiar with her habit of talking to herself, and with her fondness for showing off her learning although she seems to often get her facts a little wrong. In addition, the narrator has a very shrewd sense for logic, meaning, and self-referential puzzles. For example, he points



out there is little difference whether Alice asks "Do bats eat cats" or "Do cats eat bats" since she cannot really answer either question. Carroll is most likely referring to an influential theory of early 20th century logic which held the following belief: any sentences irresolvable as true or false are basically nonsense. Since Alice cannot answer either question, then it would seem both are equally nonsensical.

The garden introduces an element of suspense in the story, Alice will continually try to gain entry and often be thwarted in her endeavors. At the same time, we see a sort of magical wish fulfillment at work in wonderland; as soon as she needs a key it appears. Yet even though Alice's wishes are always being granted immediately, they are just as quickly foiled in some unexpected way. For example, she finds a golden key; however, the key is for the wrong door. Yet then the right door appears. Alas, she is the wrong size, and so on.



Chapter 2 Summary

Alice grows taller so quickly that she soon loses track of her own feet, and wonders who will put shoes on them now they are so far away. Worrying whether or not they will keep taking her where she needs to go, she vows to treat them kindly, sending them presents each year. Once she has reached the great height of nine feet, Alice remembers the garden key and runs to fetch it. Yet she is now much too large to ever fit through the door, a fact which so disheartens her that she sits down to cry again. This time around, her own tears are so gigantic that soon a pool of them collects in the hall.

At this point, the rabbit reappears, still fretting over being late for an appointment with the Duchess. When Alice timidly addresses him, he drops his fan and gloves and hurries away into the darkness. Alice picks up his fan and starts fanning herself, all the while wondering if she is even the same person she was yesterday. She goes through a list of little girls she knows, wondering if she has changed into one of them - Ada or Mabel, for example. She can't be Ada, since her hair is different, and she is smarter than Mabel, who knows very little. To prove to herself she's not Mabel, Alice goes through some of her math and geography. "London is the capital of Paris, and Paris is the capital of Rome," she recites, realizing that she does so that she has started to forget her knowledge, and must be Mabel after all. If this is the case, she might as well stay in the hole, she thinks, until she is someone else again.

Suddenly Alice notices she's shrunk again to a very small size, due to the fan she's been holding. Glad she didn't shrink out of existence entirely, she quickly resolves to get into the garden. As she moves toward the table with the key, however, she slips and falls into a great salty body of water which she takes to be the sea until she realizes it is actually the pool her own previously shed pool of tears.

Wishing she's not cried so much, Alice swims until she encounters a splashing creature which seems at first to be a hippopotamus, but turns out to be a mouse who also slipped into the pool. As everything else is so strange in the rabbit hole, Alice sees no reason a mouse should not talk, and so addresses the animal politely, "O mouse!" When it doesn't answer, Alice decides it must be a French mouse and asks it the first question in her French book, which is, "*Ou est mon chat?*" (Where is my cat?). The mouse leaps out of the water, offended. Alice tries to placate it with stories of how nice her cat is, but this only upsets the mouse more. She changes the subject, telling of the farmer's dog, who is such a skillful rat-catcher; naturally this only causes the anxious mouse to flee. She gently calls it back, promising not to mention either cats or dogs again. The mouse returns slowly. Meanwhile, several other animals have fallen into the pool of tears, including a Lory (an extinct bird), a duck, a Dodo, and an Eaglet. They all follow Alice to the shore.



Chapter 2 Analysis

Again the theme of wish-fulfillment comes into play, when Alice desire a way to grow smaller and suddenly finds herself shrinking because of the rabbit's fan. It is as if things are conforming to her desires. Similarly, she makes the absurd assumption that the mouse she encounters speaks French, since it doesn't respond to her greeting in English. Therefore she repeats an absurd sentence from her lessons, and the mouse actually understands! Worse, it not only understands but is offended.

The character of Alice's cat is an interesting one because she never actually appears in the story, except as one of Alice's memories of her normal, non-wonderland life. Alice repeatedly refers to Dinah's excellent mousing skills, wishes Dinah was with her, and resorts to using her as a threat when she finds herself in dangerous situations.

Alice's confusion as to whether she is indeed herself is one of the themes of wonderland, where the laws of existence are so strange, and one's body so likely to change dramatically that one cannot be sure whether one is even the same person. One might argue that Carroll was alluding to a long tradition in British philosophy which inquires into the very idea of stable identity. What is it exactly that makes us the same person from beginning to end, since we can't even really remember what we were like ten, even five years ago? Is there even such a thing as permanent, real identity? Alice also seems to be asking these questions in a fairy-tale context.



Chapter 3 Summary

Having climbed out of the lake of tears, the animals are all dripping wet, with fur and feathers sticking close to their bodies. Irritable and cold, they want first to get dry again. After a short argument between Alice and the Lory, the mouse decides to take charge, and to dry everyone out by telling them all a story that he claims is the "driest thing I know." His story turns out to be a long-winded history of William the Conqueror's ascension to the crown, a story that is often interrupted by the impatient animals. When Alice admits she is getting no drier, the Dodo requests, in a pompous speech, that the meeting adjourn in favor of more strenuous measures. The animals have trouble with his pretentious vocabulary, especially the Eaglet, who asks him to speak English. When the Dodo suggests a caucus-race to get them all warm, they have no other ideas so they all go along with it without even knowing what a caucus-race might be.

A course is marked out, and the animals are placed at various starting points. There is no signal when to begin, instead they all start running whenever they like, stopping when they like, until someone announces the end of the race. Immediately the eager animals demand to know who won. The dodo, after some thought, decides that all had won and that all must have prizes, to be gotten from Alice, naturally. In her pockets, Alice only had a box of 'comfits' (a sort of candy which she hands around to everyone, and a little thimble. The thimble is solemnly presented back to her by the Dodo, with a serious speech. The birds choke down the candies awkwardly, and then they all ask the mouse to tell his sad story of hating cats and dogs.

"Mine is a long and sad tale," says the mouse, and this confuses Alice so that she could only think of how the mouse's tail was indeed long, but couldn't see why it was sad. The mouse's story is presented in the text in the form of a zigzag, shaped like an animal tail, to complete the pun. More puns follow one after another until the mouse walks away in disgust. Alice brags that Dinah would soon fetch it back if she were here. When she explains to the curious birds who Dinah is, and how well she catches birds as well as mice, the creatures all leave the scene rather quickly on various pretexts. Feeling misunderstood and abandoned, the homesick Alice loses herself in her tears again. A moment later, she hears footsteps.

Chapter 3 Analysis

This portion of the tale relies largely on puns, such a telling a dry (boring) tale in order to dry off. Such confusions between language and reality are Carroll's specialty.

The word 'caucus' means any gathering of the members of a political party or movement. The absurd "caucus race" with its erratic progress, mass participation, and



air of disorganization, apparently is meant to mock the political process by which candidates are chosen to run for election.

Inverting, reversing or ignoring the rules of any game or procedure is another of Carroll's favorite themes. So, the race has no beginning or ending, no finish line, and no single winner. Everyone runs and wins. Everyone has a "prize" which is relatively worthless. The whole procedure becomes so nonsensical that it takes on another kind of sense or character altogether.

At this point in the tale, Alice is still a girl who cries easily, becomes homesick, and has trouble accepting that the creatures of wonderland do not always understand her, treat her politely, or cater to her needs. She will grow out of this vulnerable state as the story progresses, becoming a stronger, more-confident child.



Chapter 4 Summary

Alice's tears are interrupted by the White rabbit, who mistakes her for his servant Mary Anne and orders her to fetch him a new pair of gloves and a fan. She obediently runs to where he has pointed, enters his little house and only momentarily reflects at how odd it is to be following orders from an animal. Finding the gloves and fan, she notices a bottle from which she can't help drinking, out of curiosity. Just as one might expect, she immediately feels her head against the ceiling and her arm out the windows. Such things usually only happen in fairy tales, she reflects and thinks there ought to be a book written about her, as she seems the middle of fairy-tale herself. She makes a note to write a book about herself when she grows up, then realizes she's already very large and can't grow any more. She debates the pros and cons of being all grown up already, taking on two voices again, until the rabbit interrupts her with his demand for his gloves. At first she trembles with fear, but then remembers she is many times larger than the rabbit, and so when he comes around to the window she grabs at him with her free hand and sends him crashing into a little plant box for cucumbers.

The rabbit consults his gardener, Pat, and they both agree that the giant arm should be taken out of the window. Much commotion ensues outside as ladders are brought and strategies hatched to best lay hold of the arm. Alice overhears that a certain lizard named Bill has been chosen to go down the chimney to confront her. Though she pities him for having to do the difficult work, when he enters the chimney she nevertheless executes a swift kick that sends him flying. The other animals catch Bill, listen to his report of "something that came at him like a jack-in-the-box" and comfort him with brandy. The rabbit declares the house must be burnt down, but Alice responds by threatening to set her cat Dinah loose on them all.

After a long silence, the creatures come up with the plan of throwing tiny pebbles at her. The pebbles turn into magical little cakes that make her small again, and she runs out of the house, straight into the safety of the wood. Her only concern is to return to her right size again, for it seems that she is far smaller than normal, as shown when a friendly puppy nearly tramples her. Searching for something to eat that will change her size, Alice finds a mushroom almost exactly her height. On top of it, she discovers a large caterpillar, sitting with folded arms and smoking a hookah (an eastern water pipe).

Chapter 4 Analysis

The question of changing and mistaken identity surfaces again when the Rabbit mistakes Alice for his servant, who never appears. Alice is still new enough to Wonderland that she obeys the Rabbit's commands, instead of standing up for herself. Unfortunately, her obedience leads her into a sort of trap, when she finds herself stuck in the Rabbit's house with no way out. The theme of eating and drinking to introduce



changes in height becomes a little predictable, as Alice herself notices; this is why, after all, she drinks what she finds in the Rabbit's house.

Once she finds herself a large size again, she reflects upon the merits of being "grown up," as if being larger was all there was to being an adult. Her conversation with herself reflects her uncertainty and lack of awareness about what it really means to be an adult. On the other hand, she is on the way to making some progress towards being a genuine adult in this scene, for she learns to defend herself against unfair aggression. For example, she does not remain docile when she is backed into a corner (literally, with her arm out the window and foot up the chimney); rather, she defends herself by giving the little lizard, Bill, a swift kick. Her newfound ability to defend herself, both physically and psychologically, will grow stronger in the chapters ahead.



Chapter 5 Summary

The caterpillar looks at Alice and asks sleepily, "Who are YOU?" to which Alice replies she no longer really knows anymore, after all the recent changes. She tells him how confusing it can be to change size many times in one day, but the caterpillar simply disagrees, and maintains that even changing into a butterfly would feel in the least odd for him. Their conversation proceeds with difficulty, since the Caterpillar speaks only in terse, logical sentences and is rather unfriendly. Alice maintains that she is changing, and doesn't remember things as she used to. To prove this, she tries reciting a famous poem ("How Does the Little Busy Bee"); however, it comes out just as wrongly as the verses in wonderland tend to do, and is full of nonsense and malicious humor.

The Caterpillar asks her what height she would prefer to be. Definitely larger than a paltry three inches, Alice replies, before noticing that her new acquaintance is exactly that same height. He tells her she'll get used to it, and resumes smoking. A moment later he leaves his perch to crawl away, noting as he departs that one side will enlarge her and the other side will shrink her. Alice wonders, "Of what?" To her unspoken question comes the answer, "Of the mushroom."

Not knowing how to find two different sides of a round object, Alice finally reaches as far around as she can with both hands. The mushroom has a dramatic effect, and soon Alice's head is far up in the uppermost tree branches. Her neck is long and flexible, allowing her to swoop and dive amongst the leaves. As she does so, she alarms a hostile pigeon which flies into her face screaming, "Serpent!" Alice denies she is a serpent, but fails to convince the pigeon, who is mortally afraid of egg-eating serpents and has tried every hiding place to escape them. Alice denies being a serpent, but confesses to a liking for eggs, which is normal in little girls. The pigeon responds that girls must be a type of serpent, if that is the case. Alice denies wanting the pigeon's eggs, as they are still raw, and manages to escape further confrontation with the pigeon by nibbling her way down to her original normal size. No sooner has she done so, than she discovers a tiny house about four feet high. Deciding to go in it, she shrinks herself down to nine inches.

Chapter 5 Analysis

The tale continues with the theme of transformation, in particular by placing Alice in a dialogue with a creature that symbolizes metamorphosis, the change from one state to another. Ironically, however, the caterpillar seems to have no sympathy for Alice's complaint about constantly changing size. He finds nothing confusing about changes in one's body, perhaps because it is his very essence to undergo radical changes.



Alice faces several logical puzzles in this chapter. When she learns that one side of the mushroom will make her taller, the other side shorter, she must figure out how to determine 'sides' of a round object. It's difficult for ordinary reasoning to accept that the same object can have two entirely opposite effects, and even more difficult to accept that the sides chosen can be arbitrarily determined. Yet instead of sitting down and crying, Alice learns to play along with the bizarre logic and laws at work in her new environment, and so she successfully determines the sides herself. One is not so surprised that her method works, for one of the rules in wonderland seems to be that very strict adherence to pure logic leads to correct results; after all, the only requirement stated was that Alice nibble from two separate sides of the round mushroom, which she did.

The pigeon encounter further demonstrates the severe, disorienting changes Alice is facing. In addition, it poses the question of definitions and categories. If the pigeon means by 'serpent' anything that eats an egg, is she mistaken? Do meanings reside in the intention of the person speaking, or are they objective, grounded in the things and objects themselves. This deeply philosophical question pervades the book, as one see also in the meeting with the Mad Hatter.



Chapter 6 Summary

The little house is watched over by a frog-faced doorman (or footman), who sits outside the door. As she watches, his fish-faced colleague comes with a croquet invitation from the queen. Alice asks how she can get inside but he offers her little help, since he is outside rather than inside it himself. The door opens and a plate comes flying out. The doorman vows to sit at his post for days. Alice loses patience and walks right in. Inside, she finds a couple of women making soup in the kitchen. The first woman, a Duchess, nurses a very ugly baby while the second, a cook, stirs a kettle full of highly peppered soup. The air is full of so much pepper than everyone is sneezing except the cook and a large cat that sits nearby, smiling at them all. Curious, Alice asks why the cat is grinning so broadly and she is told the cat is a "Cheshire cat."

The Cook and Duchess behave very rudely to each other and to Alice. The Duchess calls the baby a pig and insults Alice's intelligence, while the Cook constantly throws heavy dishes and pans at her employer. Alice tries to calm them both down, but is told that the world would go around faster if everyone minded their own business. Alice retorts, trying to show off her knowledge, talking about the turning of the earth on its axis, but when the Duchess hears the word 'axis' she thinks instead of an ax that can be used to chop off Alice's head. Alice goes on calculating the rotation of the earth while the Duchess sings a cruel lullaby to her child, one which tells of beating babies who sneeze. Then she tosses the child to Alice while she goes off to play croquet.

The uncooperative baby sobs, grunts, and squirms in Alice arms; as it fights to get loose it turns gradually into a small piglet. Relieved that the ugly baby has become a rather handsome pig, Alice lets it loose in the woods.

The Cheshire Cat appears above her on a limb, and she asks him where she should go from here. "That depends on where you want to go" replies the cat. Alice says she doesn't really care; she just wants to get somewhere. The cat answers very logically that it doesn't matter, in that case, which way she follows, since she'll always get somewhere if she walks far enough. Then he tells her that all people in the vicinity are mad, including her, or she wouldn't be here among them. He reminds her of the croquet game, where he will also be, and vanishes into thin air. Immediately he reappears to ask about the baby, finds it turned into a pig, seems unsurprised, and vanishes. Oddly, the cat has the strange ability to vanish so slowly, starting with the tail, that the only thing left visible is its large grin. Continuing on her bizarre journey, Alice comes upon the March Hare's house. She adapts her size and enters.



Chapter 6 Analysis

This chapter largely serves to introduce several new characters who play important roles in the second half of the story. The themes of transformation and identity continue to be developed, as the ugly baby boy turns out to make a far better pig. As Alice begins to accept such fluid transformations, (for example, letting the baby go in the woods instead of worrying about its change of state), she seems to grow wiser, more self-assured and able to handle odd new situations.

The characters exemplify two sorts of people. The duchess and cook are caught up in banal duties of daily life, such as domestic tasks and social obligations. They are too busy arguing to speak with Alice or give her much information. The Cheshire Cat, on the other hand, has a calm, detached perspective on the whole situation. He shows curiosity, but no surprise, at the baby's turning into a pig, and he rightly tells Alice that she will always arrive somewhere if she walks long enough. Implied in his advice to her is the idea that she must be more specific and deliberate about choosing her goals and destinations, if she wants to arrive somewhere worth going.



Chapter 7 Summary

The Mad Hatter (a hat-maker), the March Hare (a large rabbit) and the sleeping Dormouse (a golden-colored mouse) are sharing tea at a large table when Alice comes upon them. Though plenty of places are laid at the table, they tell her there's no room for her. She sits down regardless and is offered some wine, which turns out to be nonexistent. The Hatter asks her a riddle, "Why is a raven like a writing desk?" and this sets the tone for the whole conversation, which continues mostly in riddles, inverted sentences, and logical puzzles. When Alice says she means what she says, and then adds that she says what she means, for example, the creatures attack her logic. "I see what I eat" is not the same as "I eat what I see," points out the Hare, who is concerned over the portions on the table.

The Hatter asks Alice what day it is and compares it to the time on his watch, which has apparently been damaged by the Hare's attempt to repair it with butter. Oddly, the watch tells only the day and not the time, this is because the time never changes from teatime, four o'clock. They ask Alice if she's solved the riddle, and confess that they themselves have no answer to it. Alice retorts that they shouldn't waste time with unanswerable riddles. This reference to Time leads to a bizarre and surreal discussion on the nature of Time. Time, claims the Hatter, is actually a person with whom it is important to keep on very good terms. "If you knew time as well as I do," says the Hatter, "you wouldn't talk of wasting IT. It's HIM." Moreover, they have actually quarreled with Time themselves, at one of the Queen's croquet games, and now it seems that Time always keeps the hour the same, out of spite. Therefore, the three sit perpetually at the tea table, moving places when their cups get dirty. When Alice logically asks what happens after they've made a full circle, the subject is abruptly changed.

They ask Alice, then the sleeping Dormouse, to tell a story. The rodent replies with a nonsensical tale about three sisters who lived at the bottom of a well, drinking only treacle which is an old-fashioned word for molasses. The girls' main activity is drawing, that is, drawing this liquid out of the well in spite of the fact that they are inside it. The more Alice tries to make sense of the story, the more it dissolves into puns and logical impossibilities. "But they were in the well," she objects. "So they were...well in" replies the Dormouse. The dormouse falls asleep as it continues the story, making it even less coherent.

Growing finally disgusted with the creatures' rudeness to her, Alice departs vowing never to return. She notices a tree with a small door in it, enters, and finds herself again in the hallway with the glass table. With the help of the size-altering mushroom pieces, she manages finally to gain access to the garden full of flowers and fountains.



Chapter 7 Analysis

As the Cheshire Cat warned, Alice is indeed in the realm of the mad when she walks into the Tea Party. Here time has apparently been suspended, puns abound, and logical meanings of sentences are taken apart. Time is not just suspended; it is an animate character who has willfully stopped, as if on strike. Yet the suspension of time passing happens only in the Tea Party's vicinity, which could explain why the people in the area are said to be crazy.

The entire episode is so full of puns and whimsy that it seems to refuse any interpretation, any moral or message. From a literary point of view, the language games, surreal characters, and absurdly playful dialogue take precedence over any sense, logic, or psychological meaning. Indeed, Carroll seems to be saying one does not need to have much of a 'message' or 'moral' to tell a terrific story.



Chapter 8 Summary

At the garden gate, three gardeners named Two, Seven, and Five are hastily painting a rose tree, turning the white roses red. Seven faces the threat of decapitation, having made a small error confusing tulips and onions. Asked why they are painting the roses, they report that the Queen had ordered a red one in that place. As she suddenly approaches, they all fall flat on their faces and become indistinguishable.

Alice isn't sure whether to lie down on her face or not, and decides bravely that since the whole company is merely a pack of cards, she need not be very concerned about them. She remains standing and tells the Queen her name, but is unable to give her any information about the gardeners. In response to her ignorance and impudence, the Queen orders Alice's head to come off. "Nonsense," Alice replies in a firm voice. The Queen also orders the execution of the gardeners but these men, aided by Alice, manage to simply slip away.

Alice is told to join the croquet game, a social promotion that earns her the sudden fawning attentions of the white rabbit. He informs her that the Duchess battered the Queen about the ears, and is under sentence of death, like many others.

The game proceeds with great difficulty, since the balls are hedgehogs and the mallets are flamingos; even the arches were made of bent-over soldiers. Faced with numerous disputes and confusion, the Queen solves each of them by ordering someone's head off. The Cheshire cat appears from nowhere and listens sympathetically to Alice's complaints about the company. The King notices Alice talking to a grinning cat and grows interested, but then decides it must be removed. The queen orders its head off and for once the King agrees, going for the executioner himself. However, the cat's head can't be cut off since its body has never fully appeared. Alice suggests they consult the imprisoned duchess, since it is her cat.

Chapter 8 Analysis

Immediately the irrational, violent authority of the Queen is made clear through the image of the poor gardeners desperately painting a rose bush to hide their rather innocent mistake. When they fall on their face and become "indistinguishable," the reader has a first clue that these are not people, but a deck of cards. The author also seems to be mocking the extreme conformity in any branch of the court, or other governmental organizations, where people are reduced to numbers just as Two, Five and Seven are merely that.

Alice has grown brave enough to defy even the Queen, refusing to lie on her face and even telling the woman she's full of nonsense. She makes some ethical decisions of her own when she helps the oppressed soldiers to escape the Queen's tyranny.



The croquet game, like the caucus and the later trial, proceeds contrary to the very rules that normally constitute it. The balls and the wickets both "get up and walk away," the mallets are living birds, the furrowed ground prevents aiming one's shots, etc. Yet if it is only a game and the rules all arbitrary and made up, does it really matter if we change them completely? Carroll seems to be asking the same question about both games and language.



Chapter 9 Summary

The Duchess appears and acts quite friendly towards Alice, walking arm and arm with her and delivering all sorts of inappropriate and useless bits of wisdom, like, "love makes the world go round." Alice reminds the Duchess of her own earlier statement that it was minding one's own business made it go round. Alice finds that conversing with the Duchess, who tries to find a moral in every trivial word uttered, from flamingos to mustard, is quite unbearable. Fortunately, the Queen appears and orders the Duchess to leave or lose her head, whereupon the woman disappears. The Queen then takes Alice to visit an animal called the Mock Turtle. "I don't even know what a Mock Turtle is." "It's the thing Mock Turtle Soup is made from," replies the Queen.

A fantastic mythical animal, the Gryphon, escorts Alice to see the Mock Turtle, comforting Alice along the way by informing her that the Queen never really executes anyone. They arrive to find the Mock Turtle sitting alone, crying for no apparent reason. Once upon a time, the beast tells Alice, he was a real turtle rather than a mock one. He'd gone to school in the sea, where he studied all the 'extras' like French, Music, and Washing. Other subjects included the branches of math (ambition, distraction, uglification, derision), as well as Mystery (ancient and modern). The classics master taught Laughing and Grief. As for a schedule, the lessons grew 'less' from day to day, decreasing from ten hours the first day, nine the next, then eight, and so on. The eleventh was a holiday. Alice asks about the twelfth day and they change the subject, unable or unwilling to answer.

Chapter 9 Analysis

Both animals, the Mock Turtle and the Gryphon, are non-existent. Gryphons date from ancient mythology, where they are portrayed as winged lions. The other creature is Carroll's own invention, and is taken from a soup called "Mock Turtle" soup which does not, in fact, contain any turtle meat, hence the name "mock" turtle. The Queen's description of the Mock Turtle is circular and unhelpful for knowing anything about the animal, but it does further develop the theme of "self-referentiality" in the story. Self-referentiality happens whenever something usually meant to act upon, or point to, or indicate some other thing turns back upon itself instead. Self-referential statements can lead to paradoxes that are unsolvable, for example, the statement, "I am lying." If the person speaking is indeed lying then the statement is true. But if the person is not lying, then the statement contradicts his meaning. Further examples of self-referentiality are found in the book, for example in Chapter Eleven when the narrator tells the reader to look at the book's front cover, thereby referring to the book's physical form itself (which was obviously not yet in existence!)



The list of subjects mentioned by the Mock Turtle again twists the reader's ordinary perception and expectations into something familiar but disturbingly wrong. For example, instead of Latin and Greek, he studied "laughing and grief."



Chapter 10 Summary

The Mock Turtle and the Gryphon decide to tell Alice about the games they used to play in school. A favorite was a certain dance called the Lobster Quadrille. All the complicated moves and partner changes are described; at the peak of the dance the lobsters are thrown out into the sea and then retrieved. They even perform a little of it for Alice, singing the whole time.

Alice is often asked if she is acquainted with lobsters, or whitings, a type of fish. She does indeed know these animals, and eagerly says so, but then remembers that she is familiar with them only from having seen them on her plate at dinner. Such fish have their tails in their mouths and are covered with crumbs, she says. The creatures deny the crumbs but explain, nonsensically, why the tails of the whitings would be lodged in their mouth. The whole conversation slides into various puns on sea life, "porpoise" and "purpose" for example.

Alice tells her own adventures to the creatures, who listen wide-eyed. However, their only request is to ask her to recite a well-known poem. She does, and gets it all confused with the story she's just heard about the Lobster Dance.

The Gryphon says her version is quite different from the one he used to say. She repeats the pure nonsense and the creatures wonder what about the use of going on with such confusing nonsense and ask her to stop. The Mock Turtle sings another song, this one in praise of a bowl of green soup, entitled "Beautiful Soup." The song is interrupted by a sudden call that a trial is beginning.

Chapter 10 Analysis

This Chapter overflows with the sort of nonsense, misremembered rhymes, whimsical and melancholic creatures that characterize the entire tale, as Alice listens to the Mock Turtle and Gryphon relive their past. The scene beautifully depicts what sometimes happens when a young person has to listen to a couple of old folks reminiscing. Happy to have a captive audience, they try to entertain her with exaggerated and even ludicrous stories from long ago, telling her how little she can appreciate it but giving her all the little details anyway.

The frequent use of misremembered songs and rhymes in the tale demonstrates Carroll's great gift of satire, as he pokes fun at the pompous, stilted, and overly educational poems that children were forced to memorize in school. The Victorian Era in England, (roughly 1837 to 1900) initiated public education. In the early days of which, classes were largely grim, repetitive, preachy affairs. Carroll's light-hearted tale aims both to give children something genuinely fun and imaginative to read while also reducing the authority of the moralistic verses memorized in schools.



Chapter 11 Summary

The entire court has gathered for the trial, including the King and Queen, the rabbit, the courtiers, and all the animal creatures. In the center of the courtroom stands a table with a plate of delicious-looking tarts that Alice looks forward to eating after the trial. The King presides as judge wearing his crown over his judge's wig; "Look at the frontispiece if you want to see how he did it," adds the narrator, presumably in answer to the reader's puzzlement.

The jurors are all busy writing even before the trial begins, a fact which Alice criticizes so loudly that the rabbit calls for silence. Meanwhile the jurors dutifully write down Alice's criticism of them. One of the jurors is Bill the Lizard, who Alice earlier kicked out of the chimney. His pencil squeaks and when Alice grows tired of its sound, she snatches it away from him.

The accusation is announced: apparently a young knave has been accused of stealing tarts. The king asks the jurors to consider their verdict immediately, but the rabbit reminds him there are witnesses to hear first. The Hatter arrives as the first witness, nervously carrying his teacup and bread. He remains too intimidated by the King to say very much, except to tell how poor he is. The questioning becomes ludicrous, with denials happening before statements are even made, and more puns, until the Hatter is dismissed.

Alice meanwhile realizes she has started growing again and gets into an argument with the dormouse, who asks that she stop squeezing him and grow at a reasonable pace like anyone else.

The second witness is the Duchess, who carries her pepper box with her. When asked to give her evidence, she simply refuses. Then she asserts the tarts are made of pepper. To this, the Dormouse pipes up "treacle" and is immediately thrown out. Curious as to whose name will next be called as a witness, Alice is surprised to hear the rabbit cry out the name "Alice."

Chapter 11 Analysis

The theme of self-referentiality reaches a high point in this chapter, with several examples. The King's wearing of both crown and wig is described, and then the (presumably puzzled) reader is told to look at the cover picture. This complex move points to two separate issues. First, it reminds us of Alice's own fondness for pictures in books; since this book is for her, there will of course be lots of pictures. Even though Alice is inside the tale, Carroll is conflating her with the real-life Alice who will read the book about herself. Second, the actual reader's own reaction to the text is anticipated and addressed.



Alice's sudden new growing phase has not been triggered, for once, by eating or drinking anything. This can be interpreted various ways. Perhaps it is a sign that she is growing as is normal for a child to do, without stimulants. Also, it can be read as a sign that she is soon to leave Wonderland. In either case, her increase in size works to increase the tension and suspense just before the end of the story.



Chapter 12 Summary

Meanwhile Alice has grown much larger, so that she accidentally tips over the box of jurors when she gets up. She places them back in the box hastily, and even upside down, until the King points out her mistake. The jurors note down the accident on their slates.

Asked what she knows about the tarts, Alice says "absolutely nothing." The king suddenly announces rule 42, anyone more than a mile high must leave the court. Alice denies being this tall, but the Queen concurs with her husband and says it's more like two miles. Alice accuses him of making up the rule, and refuses to leave.

A letter, which is actually a poem, is suddenly produced as evidence. It is thought that the letter was written by the prisoner, even though there is no name on it and it is not his handwriting. Using his usual strange logic, the King claims the prisoner disguised his handwriting and deliberately left off his name, behaving quite unlike any honest person would do. The cryptic verses are read aloud; they mention gifts and secrets but contain almost no names or specific references. Alice declares there is not even "an atom of meaning" in them. But the King reads them again, especially the phrase, "they all returned from him to you" and sees that the tarts are indeed returned to him, as they are on the table.

He asks for a verdict of guilty or not guilty to be given, but the Queen wants the punishment to be announced first. Alice loudly tells her this is nonsense, and then reminds them that they are "nothing but a pack of cards" after all. At this, the "whole pack rose up into the air and came flying down on her" as she screamed and beat them off. Suddenly she wakes up from a deep sleep, realizing that her sister is next to her, brushing away the leaves that had fallen on her face. She tells her whole dream to her sister, who then sits alone by the river and falls into her own reverie, one based on Alice's recent adventures. While reliving it, she is aware, unlike Alice, that the sounds in the dream (the queen's voice, the rattling teacups, the pool of tears) all correspond to real sounds in the farmyard around her. Finally she imagines Alice as a grown woman, still able to remember her wonderland adventures and her happy childhood whenever she recounts her adventures to eagerly listening children in the future.

Chapter 12 Analysis

Surprisingly, the jurors note down not just the events of the trial, but the events that happen to themselves, such as their being turned over by Alice. This is another example of nonsense caused by too much self-reference. Alice tries to stop it by removing their pencils, thus restoring some order to the court.



Alice herself has reached a stage where she is quite confident and sure of her own mind; she is not afraid to tamper with the jurors, and begins to grow much larger than they. Indeed, they are now only toys in comparison to her, as seen when she accidentally tips their box over. Moreover, she is no longer an onlooker, but the chief witness, taking on an important role. She is on the way to becoming a real adult.

In the end, she sees that all the figures who had intimidated her are nothing but a set of playing cards, seemingly very grand, but in reality quite thin and insubstantial. Even when they try their most frightening tactic, flying directly onto her in a pack, she wakes to find they were an illusion contained within a dream. Yet even though the tale is revealed as merely a dream, it remains a very powerful one, able to be very clearly imparted to Alice's sister. Indeed, the dream gains some reality when it is spread, as a story, to so many others.



Characters

Alice

Alice is in some ways the most complex and the simplest of Carroll's characters. Her character was modeled on that of his young friend Alice Pleasance Liddell, middle daughter of the classics professor and dean of Christ Church College, Oxford. Although John Tenniel's illustrations of Alice look nothing like Alice Liddell - she had short, dark hair cut into bangs, while Tenniel's little girl has long blonde hair - some of the characteristics of Miss Liddell remain in the character of Carroll's Alice. Carroll described his dream-Alice in an article entitled "Alice on the Stage" as loving, courteous, "trustful, ready to accept the wildest impossibilities with all that utter trust that only dreamers know; and lastly, curious - wildly curious, and with the eager enjoyment of Life that comes only in the happy hours of childhood, when all is new and fair, and when Sin and Sorrow are but names - empty words signifying nothing!"

Carroll's Alice is all of these things and more. She is an ordinary person trying to make sense of a senseless situation and to understand the curious realm into which she has wandered. In Wonderland, Alice is caught in a predicament where none of the rules or logic she has learned does her any good. The creatures of Wonderland behave to her like the Victorian adults of her outside world: they ignore conventional rules in favor of rules of their own that make no sense to anyone but themselves. Alice tries to deal with them logically and fails; the dream only ends for her when she rejects their world in favor of the outside world.

Alice is also a reflection of her own society: in the early chapters of the book she is sometimes arrogant and careless of the feelings of others. Morton N. Cohen writes in his critical biography *Lewis Carroll* that Alice is the means through which Carroll criticizes and compliments Victorian society. "He wove fear, condescension, rejection, and violence into the tales, and the children who read them feel their hearts beat faster and their skin tingle, not so much with excitement as with an uncanny recognition of themselves, of the hurdles they have confronted and had to overcome. Repelled by Alice's encounters, they are also drawn to them because they recognize them as their own. These painful and damaging experiences are the price children pay in all societies in all times when passing through the dark corridors of their young lives." However, in the end, Cohen concludes, Alice overcomes the problems that face her and emerges a stronger person.

Alice's Sister

Alice's sister is unnamed throughout the course of the story. She appears briefly at the beginning - the book she is reading launches Alice on her dream voyage - and in a more lengthy passage at the end of the book, in which she herself dreams about the adventures Alice has just had. Alice's sister offers an adult perspective to the entire



Wonderland adventure, interpreting Alice's dream in her own way and then going on to dream about Alice's own future.

Alice Pleasance Liddell, Carroll's model for the character Alice, had in fact two sisters: Lorina Charlotte, three years older than herself, and Edith, two years younger. Alice's sister apparently is based on neither of the two other Liddells. If there is a historical character that Alice's sister is supposed to represent, it is probably Carroll himself.

Baby

See Pig Baby

Bill the Lizard

Bill is a lizard, one of the White Rabbit's helpers. He is sent down the chimney of the White Rabbit's house to get Alice out of the place.

Canary

Canary is one of the birds that flee Alice's company after she begins to talk about her cat Dinah. The Canary "called out in a trembling voice, to its children, 'Come away, my dears! It's high time you were all in bed!"

Caterpillar

Alice meets the Caterpillar and spends most of Chapter 5 trying to understand his twisted logic. When she first encounters him, the Caterpillar is sitting on a mushroom and smoking a hookah, a type of water pipe from the Middle East. It is at the Caterpillar's insistence that Alice recites Carroll's "You Are Old, Father William" - a parody of Robert Southey's poem "The Old Man's Comforts and How He Gained Them." Although he is initially very rude to Alice, the Caterpillar finally tells her that the mushroom will help her control her height.

Cheshire Cat

The Cheshire Cat first appears in the kitchen with the Duchess, the Cook, and the Baby. It has an unusual grin, as well as the strange ability to fade into invisibility - sometimes one part at a time. The Cheshire Cat is one of the few animals in Wonderland that apparently has some sympathy with Alice. He guides her on the next step of her journey (the Mad Tea Party) and is the subject of what may be *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*'s most quoted line: "Well! I've often seen a cat without a grin,' thought Alice; 'but a grin without a cat! It's the most curious thing I ever saw in all my life!" The



Cat reappears and provokes an argument between the executioner and The King of Hearts about whether one can decapitate a bodiless character.

The Cheshire Cat's grin is one of the most debated questions about *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*. Why does the Cheshire Cat grin? There was a common phrase in Carroll's time, "to grin like a Cheshire Cat," but no one really knows how the phrase originated. One theory holds that the grin is based on pictures of grinning lions that a local painter used to paint on the signboards of inns. Another states that Cheshire cheeses were sometimes molded into the shape of grinning cats. Carroll, who was born in the county of Cheshire, could have known both theories. Although he is one of the most popular characters in the Alice stories, the Cheshire Cat does not appear in the original manuscript version, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*.

Cook

The Cook serves in the Duchess's kitchen. She is primarily noted for two qualities: she throws things (mostly kitchen utensils) at the Duchess and the Baby, and she cooks with an excessive amount of pepper, which causes the Baby and the Duchess to sneeze. She appears again as a witness against the Knave of Hearts.

Crab

See Old Crab

Dinah

Dinah is Alice's cat. She does not appear in person. It is Alice's thoughtless talking about her cat that finally alienates the animals and birds. "Dinah" was also the name of a cat owned by the Liddell girls.

Dodo

The Dodo appears in the drying-off sequence. He suggests the Caucus-Race as a means of drying off and later calls on Alice to provide the prizes for the winners. In the original manuscript, the Dodo makes the suggestion to move the party to a nearby house to dry off.

Like the Mouse and the Duck, the Dodo represents another of the characters who traveled on the "golden afternoon" on which the Alice story was first composed. According to a note in Martin Gardner's *The Annotated Alice*, the Dodo was Carroll himself. "When Carroll stammered he pronounced his name 'Do-Do-Dodgson,' and it is amusing to note that when his biography entered the *Encyclopaedia Britannica* it was inserted just before the entry on the Dodo."



Dormouse

Dormouse is the third character at the Mad Tea Party. The name is actually derived from the Latin verb dormire, which means "to sleep." It looks more like a small squirrel than a mouse. It hibernates during the winter and sleeps during the day, so the name is quite appropriate. Since Alice is touring Wonderland during the day, the Dormouse is very sleepy. Nevertheless, it is able to participate in the tea party and even begins a nonsense tale before falling to sleep again. Martin Gardner reports in *The Annotated Alice* that the Dormouse may have been inspired by the pet wombat of Dante Gabriel Rossetti, a noted literary figure of Carroll's time. Rossetti's wombat "had a habit of sleeping on the table," Gardner writes. "Carroll knew all the Rossettis and occasionally visited them." The Dormouse does not appear at all in Carroll's original manuscript story, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*.

Duchess

When Alice first encounters the Duchess, she is sitting in the kitchen with the Cook and the Cheshire Cat, and she holds the Baby who will later turn into a Pig. She also sings the Carrollian poem "Speak Roughly to Your Little Boy," a parody of a Victorian verse about manners. She also abuses the Baby by shaking it and tossing it up into the air, and at the end of the poem she throws it at Alice.

John Tenniel's famous big-mouthed illustration of the Duchess from the original edition of the novel is probably based on a portrait of Margaretha Maultasch, a duchess of Carinthia and Tyrol during the fourteenth century. Martin Gardner, in his *The Annotated Alice*, reports that "Maultasch,' meaning 'pocket-mouth,' was a name given to her because of the shape of her mouth." He also explains that Margaretha "had the reputation of being the ugliest woman in history." Carroll's Duchess appears again, and is now very friendly to Alice. Then it is revealed that the Queen had sentenced her to death, and she leaves quickly.

Duck

The Duck is one of the birds that gets caught in the pool of Alice's tears. The Duck gets into an argument with the Mouse over the interpretation of a pronoun in the "dry" passage of English history that the Mouse reads. The Duck originally represented Reverend Robinson Duckworth, a companion of Carroll and the Liddell sisters on the "golden afternoon" on which Carroll told Alice Liddell the story that became *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*.

Eaglet

The Eaglet is one of the animals caught in the pool of tears. She demands that the Dodo "speak English" and adds, "I don't know the meaning of half those long words,



and, what's more, I don't believe you do either!" The Eaglet represents Alice Liddell's younger sister Edith Liddell.

Father William

Father William is the title character of Carroll's parody poem "You Are Old, Father William," a takeoff of Robert Southey's didactic poem "The Old Man's Comforts and How He Gained Them." Carroll's poem inverts the didactic purpose of Southey's original. While the Old Man in Southey's poem won his comforts through thriftiness, conservative behavior, and religious devotion, Carroll's Father William moves through his old age by refusing to conform to Victorian norms. While Southey's young man seeks to understand his father's good health and good humor, Carroll's young man seeks information only to satisfy his curiosity. Carroll's poem ends with Father William's threat to kick his son downstairs.

Father William's Son

Father William's Son is the other character in Carroll's parody poem "You Are Old, Father William," a take-off of Robert Southey's didactic poem "The Old Man's Comforts and How He Gained Them." While Southey's young man seeks to understand his father's good health and good humor, Carroll's young man seeks information only to satisfy his curiosity. Carroll's poem ends with Father William's threat to kick his son downstairs.

Fish-Footman

The Fish-Footman brings an invitation to the Duchess from the Queen to play croquet.

Five of Spades

Five of Spades is one of the gardeners Alice discovers in the Queen's garden who are painting the white roses red.

Frog-Footman

The doorman at the house of the Duchess, the Frog-Footman goes outside to accept the invitation from the Queen for the Duchess to play croquet that afternoon. He then poses a logical conundrum for Alice: since he can only answer the door from inside the house, how is she to get in? Alice discusses the problem with him for some time before she finally gives up, opens the door to the Duchess's house herself, and goes in.



Griffin

The Gryphon is assigned by the Queen of Hearts to be Alice's guide and takes her to see the Mock Turtle. He is one of the more sympathetic characters in the novel, and he treats Alice better than most of his fellow Wonderland creatures.

Gryphon

See Griffin

Guinea Pigs

Guinea Pigs appear in several different roles in *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*. A couple of them serve as the White Rabbit's servants and help revive Bill the Lizard after Alice kicks him up the chimney in Chapter IV. Another couple - or perhaps the same ones - serve as jurors in the trial of the Knave of Hearts in Chapters XI and XII.

King of Hearts

The King of Hearts first makes his appearance at the Queen's croquet party, but his most important role is as the conductor of the Knave of Heart's trial. He objects to the Cheshire Cat's rudeness and sentences the animal to lose its head. He is not as forceful as his wife, the Queen of Hearts, but he shares with her and the other Wonderland characters a form of logic that first confuses Alice, then irritates her.

Knave of Hearts

Made of cardboard, the Knave (or Jack) of Hearts makes a brief appearance in Chapter 8. He is later arrested and held for trial on the charge of stealing the Queen's tarts.

Lory

Lory is a type of Australian parrot who gets into an argument with Alice, and "at last turned sulky, and would only say, 'I'm older than you, and must know better.'" Critics agree that the Lory represents Lorinda Liddell, Alice's older sister, who was also a participant on the "golden afternoon" on which the concept of *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* was composed.

Mad Hatter

The Mad Hatter, like his friend the March Hare, is stuck in an endless tea time. In Carroll's time, hat makers regularly used mercury to treat their hats, and mercury vapor



is poisonous. It can cause hallucinations as well. The depiction of the Hatter in the original illustrations by John Tenniel may be based in part on an Oxford furniture dealer named Theophilus Carter. "Carter," says Martin Gardner in his *The Annotated Alice*, "was known in the area as the Mad Hatter, partly because he always wore a top hat and partly because of his eccentric ideas." Carter invented a bed that tossed the sleeper out on the floor when the alarm went off, which "may explain why Carroll's Hatter is so concerned with time as well as with arousing a sleepy dormouse." His poem "Twinkle, Twinkle, Little Bat" parodies Jane Taylor's song "The Star," and he proposes the famous riddle "Why is a raven like a writing-desk?" He appears again as a witness in the trial of the Knave of Hearts. He does not appear at all in Carroll's original manuscript story, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*.

Magpie

See Old Magpie

March Hare

The March Hare hosts the Mad Tea Party. He is called the March Hare because he is mad. In England March is the breeding season for hares, and they often act strangely during the month. With his friends the Mad Hatter and the Dormouse, he is stuck in a perpetual tea party, in which time never progresses and tea never ends. He is very argumentative and challenges almost all of Alice's remarks by challenging the meanings of specific words. When Alice leaves the tea party, she looks back to see the Hatter and the Hare trying to drown the Dormouse in a teapot. He later appears as a witness in the trial of the Knave of Hearts. He does not appear at all in Carroll's original manuscript story, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*.

Mary Ann

Mary Ann is the White Rabbit's servant. He mistakes Alice for her in Chapter IV, but she never actually appears in the book.

Mock Turtle

The Mock Turtle is a character who has the front limbs and shell of a turtle and the head and hind limbs of a calf, because "mock turtle soup" is made from veal. In Chapters 9 and 10 he entertains Alice with the story of his education (liberally sprinkled with puns) and the song known as "The Lobster Quadrille" - a parody of a poem by Mary Howitt called "The Spider and the Fly." He also performs "Beautiful Soup," a Carrollian parody of a popular song, "Star of the Evening," that Carroll had heard the Liddell sisters sing on occasion.



Mouse

Mouse is the first creature Alice meets after she falls into the pool of her own tears she had cried while she was nine feet tall. Alice inadvertently offends the Mouse by talking about her cat Dinah, but the Mouse forgives her and tries to help her dry off by reciting a passage from a very dry - in the sense of boring - book of English history. Later the Mouse tells her and the other assembled animals "The Mouse's Tale," perhaps the most famous example in English of "figured" verse, poetry in which the shape of the poem reflects something of the poem's subject matter.

In the original manuscript, the Mouse was held to represent Alice Liddell's governess Miss Prickett. The book with the very dry passage that the Mouse quotes was an actual book of English history that Miss Prickett used to teach the Liddell children.

Old Crab

The Old Crab gives a moral lesson to her daughter: "Let this be a lesson to you never to lose your temper!"

Old Magpie

The Old Magpie is one of the "curious creatures" from the pool of tears. When Alice begins to talk about her cat Dinah, the Old Magpie declares, "I really must be getting home: the night air doesn't suit my throat!" and leaves.

Pat

Pat is the White Rabbit's manservant. He speaks with an Irish brogue and tries to get Alice out of the White Rabbit's house.

Pig Baby

The Baby first appears in Chapter 6, where he is alternately wailing at the Duchess and sneezing from the Cook's pepper. After Alice rescues him from the Duchess's abuse and the Cook's thrown dishes, he changes into a Pig. Martin Gardner, in his *The Annotated Alice*, suggests that Carroll made the Baby change into a Pig because of his low opinion of little boys.

Pigeon

Alice encounters the Pigeon after the Caterpillar's mushroom has made her grow up over the surrounding trees. The Pigeon mistakes her for a serpent because Alice's neck has grown very long. The Pigeon cannot conceive of anything that long and serpent-like



being anything but a serpent and refuses to accept the idea that Alice does not want to eat her eggs.

Puppy

Alice encounters the Puppy toward the end of Chapter 4, after she shrinks to a height of three inches. Because of her smallness the playful puppy poses a serious threat to Alice, and she is forced to run away from it. She compares playing with the Puppy to "having a game of play with a cart-horse, and expecting every moment to be trampled under its feet."

Queen of Hearts

The Queen of Hearts is the driving force behind Wonderland. She constantly orders the execution of her subjects, but her command "off with his head!" is never carried out. It is fear of her anger that motivates the White Rabbit at the beginning of the book, and it is fear of the queen that suppresses the Duchess's behavior. Alice's own anger at the Queen's illogical, reckless behavior makes her overturn the conventions of Wonderland and break out of her dream at the end of the book. In "Alice on the Stage," Carroll wrote, "I pictured to myself the Queen of Hearts as a sort of embodiment of ungovernable passion - a blind and aimless Fury." "Her constant orders for beheadings," explains Martin Gardner in his *The Annotated Alice*, "are shocking to those modern critics of children's literature who feel that juvenile fiction should be free of all violence and especially violence with Freudian overtones."

Seven of Spades

The Seven of Spades is one of the gardeners Alice discovers in the Queen's garden who are painting the white roses red.

Sister

See Alice's Sister

Two of Spades

The Two of Spades is one of the gardeners Alice discovers in the Queen's garden who are painting the white roses red.

William

See Father William



White Rabbit

White Rabbit is the first character that Alice meets in her dream wonderland. He looks much like any other white rabbit, with a white coat and pink eyes, but he wears a waistcoat (vest) and carries a large gold watch. John Tenniel's illustration from the first edition of the novel shows him wearing a jacket and carrying an umbrella. He also speaks English, but to Alice his clothes and watch are his most amazing characteristics. In the second chapter he drops his white kid gloves and a fan, which Alice picks up; it is the fan that causes her to shrink to below her normal size. (In the original manuscript, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*, the fan was replaced by a nosegay, a small bouquet of flowers.) Later he mistakes Alice for his maidservant Mary Ann.

The White Rabbit, with his preoccupation with time and clothing, is in many ways a representative Victorian adult. Carroll wrote about him in the article "Alice on the Stage": "For her 'youth, "audacity, "vigour,' and 'swift directness of purpose,' read 'elderly, "timid, "feeble,' and 'nervously shilly-shallying,' and you will get *something* of what I meant him to be." "I *think* the White Rabbit should wear spectacles," the author continued. "I am sure his voice should quaver, and his knees quiver, and his whole air suggest a total inability to say 'Boo' to a goose!"



Setting

The novel opens with a bored and sleepy Alice sitting with her sister on the riverbank on a hot day. Suddenly she notices a White Rabbit with pink eyes run close by her. She hears him say "Oh dear! Oh dear! I shall be too late!" as he pulls a watch out of his waistcoat-pocket. He scurries down a rabbit-hole under a hedge. Alice follows him and falls into Wonderland.

Carroll immediately situates readers in Wonderland's setting. As Alice tumbles down, down, she sees cupboards and bookshelves, maps, and pictures hung on pegs. She thinks the fall may never end.

Then she plops, without a scratch, onto a pile of sticks and dry leaves. She follows White Rabbit as he hurries down a long passage, and the tale's magic unfolds.

Although Wonderland is a place where anything can happen, the events are nonetheless grounded in a realistic setting. Familiar things make the story believable: a three-legged glass table, a tiny golden key, locked doors, and "the loveliest garden you ever saw." To further ground the story in reality, Carroll develops his tale using events typical of 19th-century England. For example, a tea party with the Mad Hatter, a game of croquet at the Queen's court, and a court of justice trial where Alice sees a justice's "great wig," effectively define and highlight the era.

Yet, Carroll's unique presentation delights and entertains. For example, longing to enter the garden of flowers and cool fountains, Alice discovers a magical potion that says "DRINK ME." After confirming the bottle does not say, "poison," she drinks it and shrinks to ten inches. Now she can get through the door into the garden.

Carroll's characters display many of the author's own characteristics. For example, the White Rabbit's obsession with losing his gloves parallels Carroll's own fear of misplacing his gloves. The King of Hearts and his Queen constantly proclaim "off-with-his-head," and "off-with-her-head," proclamations that highlight Carroll's awareness of hierarchy in a humorous way. This lightheartedness may have originated from Carroll's father, who expressed an exaggerated sense of fun in his letters to Carroll.

In addition, Carroll reflects his personal lifestyle. For example, the story opens on a riverbank, paralleling Carroll's love of boating. He refers to "these three little sisters - they were learning to draw" presumably referring to the Liddell sisters. Overall, Alice's Adventures in Wonderland captures the pure and magic imagination of childhood.

Carroll creates an atmosphere that makes living through a child's eyes possible.



Social Sensitivity

As a literary character, Alice is valuable for breaking the stereotype of the demure, passive Victorian girl. Alice's adventures suggest that intellectual curiosity and competency are characteristics not limited by sex. Alice is interested in discovering meanings in life; her kind of curiosity is valuable in the study of science and philosophy.

Many aspects of Alice's Adventures in Wonderland question the solemn and sometimes hypocritical attitudes toward children demonstrated in the literature of Victorian England. The lullaby the Duchess sings to her baby, for example, parodies a song, popular in Carroll's time, called "Speak Gently." The popular song urges parents to "Speak gently to the little child/ Its love be sure to gain," while the Duchess insists that a parent must "Speak roughly to your little boy/ and beat him when he sneezes." By giving directly opposite advice on the question of child rearing, the Duchess reveals the excessive sentimentality of the popular view, and hints that the reality may be different from that portrayed in the song.

Throughout Alice's adventures, Carroll calls upon the reader to note that nonsense can be made to sound very much like sense. He thus alerts the reader to think critically about the sense behind everyday language. This critical way of looking at language is especially important when applied to the words of those in authority. The King and Queen of Hearts assert their authority over the rest of the cards simply because a higher value has been assigned to them than to the rest of the "pack." They use their power (represented by their words) foolishly and arbitrarily and Alice refuses to accept them at "face-card" value, calling them to account. It is this emphasis on the need to examine the power of words and other conventional symbols that makes Alice's Adventures in Wonderland perennially relevant to social concerns.



Literary Qualities

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland, like all great literary works, challenges the young reader to question certain conventional ways of thinking, in this case to recognize that the meaning of words can be flexible. They can be played with in such a way that a listener or reader becomes confused, amused, or even angry over what may be, upon closer examination, nothing but nonsense.

Alice's adventures also demonstrate the importance of words to our sense of identity and value. Because Alice's Adventures in Wonderland calls attention to the slippery relationship between words and meanings, the reader is made aware that language (in textbooks, novels, films, and newspapers) must be challenged again and again if important concepts are to be separated from nonsense.

The humorous verses Carroll places in the mouths of his Wonderland characters provide a literary treat for his readers. From Alice's rendition of "You are Old, Father William," to the Mock Turtle's tribute to "Beautiful Soup," the teasing verses in Alice's Adventures in Wonderland are real tests of the imagination. In fact, the Victorian prose of the story demands that the reader visit a world of expression not available in modern everyday experience. Thus, the reader who stays with Alice from beginning to end comes away from the adventure verbally and intellectually enriched.

When Alice leaves the security of the riverbank to satisfy her curiosity about the White Rabbit, she sets out on a quest requiring her to overcome a series of obstacles before she can return home.

This basic plot structure - departing, overcoming, returning - places Alice's Adventures in Wonderland in the tradition of the quest tale, which includes such works as the Odyssey, the Aeneid, and The Faerie Queen. The same structure provides the basis for classics of children's literature like Gulliver's Travels and The Wizard of Oz. It may seem that Alice's adventures are trivial compared to the trials of Odysseus and Ulysses or the perils of the Redcrosse Knight. But it is important to remember that, like these other heroes, Alice must defend herself against fantastic creatures three or four times her size. In Alice's quest, however, the battles are largely verbal ones. The oddness of the creatures Alice meets is emphasized by what they say and how they say it. Alice and the reader often seem to forget the visual appearance of her opponent as she becomes engaged in her linguistic struggles.

Alice's adventures fit, too, into the dream tradition, a tradition used by - among other writers - James Joyce in Finnegans Wake, and Frank Baum in The Wizard of Oz. The characters who inhabit dreams are permitted a different sort of freedom of action, thought, and speech than those restrained by realistic conventions. Dreams also generate a logic that is most often a distortion of reality. Yet these distortions somehow reveal the "nonsense" at the core of much of what we take to be common sense.



The story of Alice's Adventures in Wonderland has also shown an extraordinary ability to inspire striking illustrations. From Carroll's own illustrations in the original edition to Franz Haacken's elongated stylizations in 1970, the story has elicited some of the most engaging and memorable illustrations of all times.

Perhaps the best known are those of Sir John Tenniel whose pen and ink drawings were reproduced in the 1866 edition and have come to be considered by many critics as "definitive."

Carroll originally called the story "Alice's Adventures Under Ground." As he prepared it for publication, he chose the title Alice's Adventures in Wonderland. Wonderland seems like an ideal description of this imaginative land with its creatures and unlikely events.

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland reflects Carroll's prolific writing style and showcases many of his literary qualities. For example, the author uses anthropomorphism effectively. The inanimate objects, like the deck of cards, take on human attributes - they walk two-by-two, argue while painting roses, and play croquet using live flamingos for mallets and live hedgehogs for croquet-balls. The March Hare and the Hatter have a mad tea party on top of a sleeping Dormouse.

The descriptions of the characters and imagery of the scenes reflect the era. For example, "powdered hair that curled all over" the heads of the footman in livery perhaps mimics the era's fashion. Carroll sets the stage of the court of justice by describing: "the King and Queen of Hearts were seated on their throne when they arrived, with a great crowd assembled about them - all sorts of little birds and beasts, as well as the whole pack of cards: the Knave was standing before them, in chains, with a soldier on each side to guard him; and near the King was the White Rabbit, with a trumpet in one hand, and a scroll of parchment in the other." These descriptions give a vivid image of the era's surroundings.

The author enjoyed songs, puns, and verses. Coupled with his expert rhyming skills and his academic career, these literary qualities enhance the tale. For one example, the pun includes "Reeling and Writhing, of course ... and then the different branches of Arithmetic - Ambition, Distraction, Uglification, and Derision." Carroll also uses these qualities to emphasize the characters' dialect. For example, the Mock Turtle sings in a voice sometimes choked with sobs:

"Beautiful Soup, so rich and green, Waiting in a hot tureen!

Who for such dainties would not stoop?

Soup of the evening, beautiful Soup!

Soup of the evening, beautiful Soup!

Beau-ootiful Soo-oop!

Beau-ootiful Soo-oop!



Soo-oop of the e-e-evening, Beautiful, beautiful Soup!"

The resolution unfolds quickly. As Alice confronts the King and Queen, and the Phyllis Morris (center) as the Duchess and Roma Beaumont as Alice, in a scene from the stage production of Lewis Carroll's Alice in Wonderland.

court of justice jury, the deck of cards rises up into the air and descends upon her. This scene efficiently transitions readers to the riverbank where Alice awakens. Alice's sister gently brushes away leaves that have fluttered onto Alice's face. Readers realize for the first time that Alice dreamt Wonderland, and "what a wonderful dream it had been."

Carroll continues the resolution with Alice's sister contemplating the dream that had just been shared with her: the long grass rustling as White Rabbit rushed by, the pig-baby sneezing on the Duchess' knee, and the sob of the miserable Mock Turtle.

Her sister knows that if she opens her eyes, the magic of Wonderland will fade into reality. The grass would rustle without the White Rabbit, the busy-farmyard would replace the pig-baby's sneezes, and the cattle's lowing would take the place of the Mock Turtle's sobs.

Carroll concludes with a reflection on the time when Alice will remember her childhood days gone by, and the happy summer days that created Alice's Adventures in Wonderland. Carroll's book influenced the history and development of children's literature. It earned the reputation as one of the most popular children's books for its use of nonsense, humor, and wit.



Themes

Identity

Lewis Carroll's *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* has been one of the most analyzed books of all time. Critics have viewed it as a work of philosophy, as a criticism of the Church of England, as full of psychological symbolism, and as an expression of the drug culture of the 1960s. Readers all differ in their interpretations of the book, but there are a few themes that have won general acceptance. One of the clearly identifiable subjects of the story is the identity question. One of the first things that the narrator says about Alice after her arrival in the antechamber to Wonderland is that "this curious child was very fond of pretending to be two people." The physical sign of her loss of identity is the changes in size that take place when she eats or drinks. After she drinks the cordial and eats the cake in Chapter 1, for instance, she loses even more of her sense of self, until at the beginning of Chapter 2 she is reduced to saying, "I wonder if I've been changed in the night? Let me think: was I the same when I got up this morning? I almost think I can remember feeling a little different. But if I'm not the same, the next question is, Who in the world am I?" She begins to cry and to fan herself with the White Rabbit's fan, which causes her to shrink down to almost nothing. After she shrinks, she falls into a pool of her own tears, in which she almost drowns. For Alice, the question of identity is a vital one.

Alice continues to question her identity until the final chapters of the book. When the White Rabbit mistakes her for his servant Mary Ann, she goes along willingly to his house to find his gloves. At the beginning of her encounter with the Caterpillar in Chapter 5, she answers his question "Who are *you?*" with the response "I - I hardly know, Sir, just at present - at least I know who I was when I got up this morning, but I think I must have been changed several times since then." At the end of Chapter 5, she tells the hostile Pigeon who calls her a serpent that she is a little girl; but she says it "rather doubtfully, as she remembered the number of changes she had gone through that day." As late as Chapter 10, she says to the Gryphon, "I could tell you my adventures - beginning from this morning ... but it's no use going back to yesterday, because I was a different person then." As she progresses through Wonderland, however, Alice slowly gains a greater sense of herself and eventually overthrows the Queen of Hearts' cruel court.

Coming of Age

The question of why Alice is so confused about her identity has to do with her developing sense of the difference between childhood and adulthood. She is surrounded by adult figures and figures of authority: the Duchess, the Queen, the King. Even the animals she encounters treat her as a Victorian adult might treat a small child. The White Rabbit and the Caterpillar order her about. They also break the rules of politeness that adults have drilled into Alice. The Mad Hatter, the March Hare, and (to a lesser extent) the



Dormouse are all rude to her in various degrees. They also break the rules of logic that Alice has been taught to follow. It is not until Alice stops trying to understand the Wonderland residents logically and rejects their world that she "comes of age" - she takes responsibility for her own actions and breaks powerfully out of her dream world.

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland is, on this level, a very affirming book for children. It offers them a path by which they can find their own way into the power of adulthood. "By a magical combination of memory and intuition," writes Morton N. Cohen in his critical biography Lewis Carroll, "Charles keenly appreciated what it was like to be a child in a grown-up society, what it meant to be scolded, rejected, ordered about. The Alice books are antidotes to the child's degradation.... Charles champions the child in the child's confrontation with the adult world, and in that, too, his book differs from most others. He treats children ... as equals. He has a way of seeing into their minds and hears, and he knows how to train their minds painlessly and move their hearts constructively."

Absurdity

Carroll communicates Alice's confusion about her own identity and her position between childhood and adulthood by contrasting her logical, reasoned behavior with that of the inhabitants of Wonderland. Everything about Wonderland is absurd by Alice's standards. From the moment that she spots the White Rabbit taking his watch from his waistcoat pocket, Alice tries to understand the twisted Wonderland logic. None of the rules she has been taught seem to work here. The inhabitants meet her politeness with rudeness and respond to her questions with answers that make no sense. The Mad Hatter's question "Why is a raven like a writing desk?" is an example. Alice believes that he is posing a riddle and tries to answer it, believing (logically) that the Hatter would not ask a riddle without knowing the answer. When she is unable to answer the question, the Hatter explains that there is no answer. He does not explain his reasons for asking the riddle; he simply says that he hasn't "the slightest idea" of the answer. When Alice protests that asking riddles with no answers wastes time, the Hatter responds with a lecture on the nature of Time, which he depicts as a person. The connections between the two subjects make no logical sense to Alice.

Alice's encounter with the Gryphon and the Mock Turtle are as equally absurd, although less grating, as the Mad Tea Party. When the two of them call on her to recite, Alice begins another of Carroll's nonsense verses, "Tis the Voice of the Lobster." At the end, she "sat down with her face in her hands, wondering if anything would *ever* happen in a natural way again." Alice finally rebels during the trial scene when the King requires *All persons more than a mile high to leave the court.* She objects to the absurd nature of the trial, saying finally "Stuff and nonsense!" and "Who cares for *you?*" "You're nothing but a pack of cards!" Her final break precipitates the end of her dream, and she wakes up with her head in her sister's lap.



Style

Parody

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland was originally told to entertain a little girl. One of the devices Lewis Carroll uses to communicate with Alice Liddell is parody, which adopts the style of the serious literary work and applies it to an inappropriate subject for humorous effect. Most of the songs and poems that appear in the book are parodies of well-known Victorian poems, such as Robert Southey's "The Old Man's Comforts and How He Gained Them" ("You Are Old, Father William"), Isaac Watts's "How Doth the Little Busy Bee" ("How Doth the Little Crocodile"), and Mary Howett's "The Spider and the Fly" ("Will You Walk a Little Faster"). Several of the songs were ones that Carroll had heard the Liddell sisters sing, so he knew that Alice, for whom the story was written, would appreciate them. There are also a number of "inside jokes" that might make sense only to the Liddells' or Carroll's closest associates. The Mad Hatter's song, for instance, ("Twinkle, Twinkle, Little Bat") is a parody of Jane Taylor's poem "The Star," but it also contains a reference to the Oxford community. "Bartholomew Price," writes Martin Gardner in his The Annotated Alice, "a distinguished professor of mathematics at Oxford and a good friend of Carroll's, was known among his student by the nickname 'The Bat.' His lectures no doubt had a way of soaring high above the heads of his listeners."

What makes Carroll's parodies so special that they have outlived the originals they mock is the fact that they are excellent humorous verses in their own right. They also serve a purpose within the book: they emphasize the underlying senselessness of Wonderland and highlight Alice's own sense of displacement. Many of them Alice recites herself under pressure from another character. "Tis the Voice of the Lobster" is a parody of the didactic poem "The Sluggard" by Isaac Watts. It is notable that most often Alice is cut off by the same characters that require her to recite in the first place.

Narrator

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland opens with Alice's complaint, "For what is the use of a book ... without pictures or conversations?" So most of the story is told through pictures and dialogue. However, there is another voice besides those of Alice and the characters she encounters. The third-person ("he/she/it") narrator of the story maintains a point of view that is very different from that of the heroine. The narrator steps in to explain Alice's thoughts to the reader. The narrator explains who Dinah is, for instance, and also highlights Alice's own state of mind. He frequently refers to Alice as "poor Alice" or "the poor little thing" whenever she is in a difficult situation.



Point of View

Although the narrator has an impartial voice, the point of view is very strongly connected with Alice. Events are related as they happen to her and are explained as they affect her. As a result, some critics believe that the narrator is not in fact a separate voice, but is a part of Alice's own thought process. They base this interpretation on the statement in Chapter 1 that Alice "was very fond of pretending to be two people." Alice, they suggest, consists of the thoughtless child who carelessly jumps down the rabbit-hole after the White Rabbit, and the well-brought-up, responsible young girl who remembers her manners even when confronted by rude people and animals.

Language

Part of the way Carroll shows Wonderland to be a strange place is the way the inhabitants twist the meaning of words. Carroll plays with language by including many puns and other forms of word play. In Chapter 3, for instance, the Mouse says he can dry everyone who was caught in the pool of tears. He proceeds to recite a bit of history -"the driest thing I know." Here, of course, the Mouse means "dry" as in dull; the Mouse's words have no ability to ease the dampness of the creatures. When Alice meets the Mad Hatter and the March Hare, they play with syntax - the order of words - to confuse Alice. When she says "I say what I mean" is the same thing as "I mean what I say," the others immediately contradict her by bringing up totally unrelated examples: "Not the same thing a bit!' said the Hatter. 'You might just as well say that "I see what I eat" is the same thing as "I eat what I see"!" The power of language is also evident in the way Alice continually offends the inhabitants of Wonderland, often quite unintentionally. For instance, she drives away the creatures at the pool of tears just by mentioning the word "cat." Eventually Alice learns to be careful of what she says, as in Chapter 8 when she changes how she is about to describe the Queen after noticing the woman behind her shoulder.



Historical Context

The Victorian Age in England

According to his own account, Lewis Carroll composed the story that became *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* on a sunny July day in 1862. He created it for the Liddell sisters while on a boating trip up the Thames River. Although the book and its sequel *Through the Looking-Glass and What Alice Found There* have since become timeless classics, they nonetheless clearly reflect their Victorian origins in their language, their class-consciousness, and their attitude toward children. The Victorian age, named for the long rule of Britain's Queen Victoria, spanned the years 1837 to 1901.

The early Victorian era marked the emergence of a large middle-class society for the first time in the history of the Western world. With this middle-class population came a spread of so-called "family values": polite society avoided mentioning sex, sexual passions, bodily functions, and in extreme cases, body parts. They also followed an elaborate code of manners meant to distinguish one class from another. By the 1860s, the result, for most people, was a kind of stiff and gloomy prudery marked by a feeling that freedom and enjoyment of life were sinful and only to be indulged in at the risk of immorality. Modern critics have mostly condemned the Victorians for these repressive attitudes.

The tone for the late Victorian age was set by Queen Victoria herself. She had always been a very serious and self-important person from the time she took the throne at the age of eighteen; it is reported that when she became queen, her first resolution was, "I will be good." After the death of her husband Albert in 1861, however, Victoria became more and more withdrawn, retreating from public life and entering what became a lifelong period of mourning. Many middle-class Englishmen and women followed her example, seeking to find morally uplifting and mentally stimulating thoughts in their reading and other entertainments.

Victorian Views of Childhood

Many upper-middle-class Victorians had a double view of childhood. Childhood was regarded as the happiest period of a person's life, a simple and uncomplicated time. At the same time, children were also thought to be "best seen and not heard." Some Victorians also neglected their children, giving them wholly over into the care of nurses, nannies and other child-care professionals. Boys often went away to boarding school, while girls were usually taught at home by a governess. The emphasis for all children, but particularly girls, was on learning manners and how to fit into society. "Children learned their catechism, learned to pray, learned to fear sin - and their books were meant to aid and abet the process," states Morton N. Cohen in his critical biography *Lewis Carroll*. "They were often frightened by warnings and threats, their waking hours burdened with homilies. Much of the children's literature ... were purposeful and dour.



They instilled discipline and compliance." Although the end of the century saw a trend toward educating women in subjects taught to men, such as Latin and mathematics, this change affected only a small portion of the population, specifically the upper classes.

This emphasis on manners and good breeding is reflected in Alice's adventures. She is always apologetic when she discovers she has offended someone, and she scolds the March Hare for his rude behavior. Nevertheless, Carroll seems to share the view that childhood was a golden period in a person's life. He refers in his verse preface to the novel to the "golden afternoon" that he shared with the three Miss Liddells. He also concludes the book with the prediction that Alice will someday repeat her dream of Wonderland to her own children and "feel with all their simple sorrows, and find a pleasure in all their simple joys, remembering her own child-life, and the happy summer days." On the other hand, Alice's own experiences suggest that Carroll felt that children's feelings and emotions were fully as complex as any adult emotions. By the end of the novel, she is directly contradicting adults; when she tells the Queen "Stuff and nonsense!" she is acting contrary to Victorian dictates of proper children's behavior.

The Early Development of Children's Literature

"Children's literature" first emerged as a genre of its own in the mid-1700s, when English bookseller John Newbery created some of the first books designed specifically to entertain children. (He is honored today in the United States by the American Library Association, who awards the annual John Newbery Medal to the best children's work of the year.) Prior to that time, works published for children were strictly educational, using stories merely to impart a moral message. If children wished to read for entertainment, they had to turn to "adult" works, such as Daniel Defoe's 1719 classic *Robinson Crusoe*. Despite Newbery's groundbreaking work, few works of entertainment for children appeared over the hundred years.

Most early Victorian fairy-stories and other works for children were intended to promote what contemporaries believed was "good" and "moral" behavior on the part of children. Carroll's "Alice" books take a swipe at this Victorian morality, in part through their uninhibited use of nonsense and wordplay (a favorite Victorian pastime) and in part through direct parody. Alice recalls in Chapter 1 of *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* that "she had read several nice little histories about children who had got burnt, and eaten up by wild beasts and other unpleasant things, all because they *would* not remember the simple rules their friends had taught them." Most of the verses and poems Carroll included in the story are parodies of popular Victorian (i.e., morally uplifting) songs and ballads, twisted so that their didactic points are lost in the pleasure of wordplay.

Carroll's "Alice" books were part of a flourishing movement throughout the world to write entertaining books for children. English translations of the fairy tale collections of the German brothers Grimm first appeared in the mid-1820s. The tales of Danish writer Hans Christian Andersen appeared in English in 1846. The United States saw Louisa May Alcott's *Little Women* in 1868-69, part of a movement to publish realistic stories for



children. In England, many noted authors for adults published works for children, including Charles Dickens and Robert Louis Stevenson, whose 1883 work *Treasure Island* is considered a classic children's adventure story. The ground broken by Carroll and other children's authors of the nineteenth century led the way for today's huge market for children's books, which have their own publishers, critical scholars and journals, and librarians.



Critical Overview

In part because of its popularity with children and in part because of the fascination it has for adults, *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* has become one of the most widely interpreted pieces of literature ever produced. Victorians praised Lewis Carroll's wordplay and brilliant use of language. Critics after his death found psychological clues to Carroll's own subconscious in the book's curious dream-structure and the strange and often hostile creatures of Wonderland. During the 1960s, many young people read the book as a commentary on the contemporary drug culture. *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and its sequel Through the Looking- Glass and What Alice Found There* still fascinate critics, who continue to find new readings and new meanings in Carroll's stories for children.

Early reviews of the novel on its original release in 1865 concentrated on Carroll's skills at invention and his ability as a molder of words. They mentioned his parodies, his use of language, and his literary style. According to Morton N. Cohen in his critical biography *Lewis Carroll*, the noted poets Christina Rossetti and Dante Gabriel Rossetti both praised the book in private letters to the author. Novelist Henry Kingsley thanked Carroll for his copy, saying "I received it in bed in the morning, and in spite of threats and persuasions, in bed I stayed until I had read every word of it. I could pay you no higher compliment ... than confessing that I could not stop reading ... till I had finished it. The fancy of the whole thing is delicious.... Your versification is a gift I envy you very much."

"Alice's Adventures in Wonderland was widely reviewed," notes Cohen, "and earned almost unconditional praise." Important newspapers and magazines, including the Reader and the Press commended the story's humor and its style. "The Publisher's Circular," asserts Cohen, " ... selected it as 'the most original and the most charming' of the two hundred books for children sent them that year; the Bookseller ... was 'delighted.... A more original fairy tale ... it has not lately been our good fortune to read'; and the Guardian ... judged the 'nonsense so graceful and so full of humour that one can hardly help reading it through." An anonymous review in the " Children's Books" section of The Athenaeum magazine (reprinted in Robert Phillips's Aspects of Alice) was an exception to the general praise the work received. The reviewer declared that "Mr. Carroll has labored hard to heap together strange adventures and heterogeneous combinations, and we acknowledge the hard labor..... We fancy that any real child might be more puzzled than enchanted by this stiff, overwrought story."

After Carroll's death in 1898, critics expanded the number and type of their readings of the *Alice* books. They analyzed the stories from many points of view - political, philosophical, metaphysical, and psychoanalytic - often evaluating the tales as products of Dodgson's neuroses and as reactions to Victorian culture. Because of the nightmarish qualities of Alice's adventures and their violent, even sadistic, elements, a few critics have suggested that the books are not really suitable for children. "We have also been bombarded by a horde of wild surmises," declares Cohen, "mostly from the psychological detectives determined to unlock deep motives in the man and to discover hidden meanings in the books. These analysts sometimes seem to be engaged in a



contest to win a prize for the most outlandish reading of the texts. One such writer has proved to his satisfaction that *Alice* was written not by Lewis Carroll at all, but by Queen Victoria."

Some of the most well-known interpretations of *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* are those that try to understand the story in light of Carroll's well-documented preference for the company of young, preteen, girls. Critics who take this approach connect Carroll's apparent inability to form an adult relationship with a woman and his artistic photographs of little girls, and conclude that Carroll was a closet pedophile - although major critics agree that there is absolutely no biographical information to support this theory. Analysts who use the theories of noted psychologist Sigmund Freud, says Cohen, "suggest that the book is about a woman in labor, that falling down the rabbit hole is an expression of Carroll's wish for coitus, that the heroine is variously a father, a mother, a fetus, or that Alice is a phallus (a theory that, at least, provides us with a rhyme)." Other readings interpret the story as about toilet training or about fallen women. "Unfortunately," Cohen concludes, "these eccentric readings, while they may amuse, do not really bring us any closer to understanding Carroll or his work."

To the extent that critics are able to agree about the meaning of the *Alice* books, they conclude that the stories are primarily games, stories invented by a man who loved young children and who loved to invent his own word-games and mind-puzzles. *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*, they agree, is the work of a lonely and brilliant man who found consolation in the company of children and tried to repay some of the debt he felt.



Criticism

- Critical Essay #1
- Critical Essay #2
- Critical Essay #3



Critical Essay #1

In the following essay Walker, a doctoral candidate at the University of Texas, explains the background of Charles Dodgson, who wrote Alice's Adventures in Wonderland under the pseudonym Lewis Carroll. He explores the sources the author used in creating the novel, and examines how its major themes of growing up and finding one's identity are a reflection and product of the Victorian age.

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland (1865), Lewis Carroll's masterpiece of children's nonsense fiction, has enjoyed a life rivaled by few books from the nineteenth century, or indeed any earlier period. Alice has inspired several screen adaptations, from Disney's well-known 1951 animated feature to more "adult" versions by contemporary Czech surrealist Jan Svankmajer and Playboy. It has been adapted for the stage several times, has served as the basis for countless spin-offs in the realm of fiction, and has inspired at least one well-known pop song (Jefferson Airplane's 1967 hit "White Rabbit"). Episodes from Alice and its companion piece, Through the Looking Glass (1872), have also frequently been used to illustrate problems in contemporary physics and ethics. On one level, perhaps, the reason for Alice's popularity needs no explanation: its sheer imaginative force, coupled with its blend of humor, unsentimental sweetness, and a sense of wonder, make the book unique, and likely to endure for some time. As Sir Richard Burton puts it in the "Terminal Essay" to his famous translation of The Thousand and One Nights (1886), "Every man at some turn or term of his life has longed for ... a glimpse of Wonderland."

Lewis Carroll was the pen name of the Reverend Charles Lutwidge Dodgson, a professor of mathematics at Christ Church, one of the colleges of Oxford University. Politically, he was conservative, "awed by lords and ladies and inclined to be snobbish toward inferiors," according to Martin Gardner in *The Annotated Alice*. He was also a skillful photographer (when photography was a new technology), a patron of the theater (a pastime generally discouraged by church officials at the time), and a fan of games and magic. And if "he was so shy that he could sit for hours at a social gathering and contribute nothing to the conversation, ... his shyness and stammering 'softly and suddenly vanished away' when he was alone with a child," notes Gardner.

This fondness for children, specifically young girls (he intensely disliked boys), has led to much speculation about Carroll's psychological makeup. There is little to no evidence, however, that his numerous relationships with girls were anything other than purely platonic. These relationships tended to break off after the girls passed through adolescence. A principal exception was his relationship with Alice Liddell, daughter of Henry George Liddell, dean of Christ Church. *Alice in Wonderland* was written at her request, and represents a record (expanded and polished) of a tale he told her one afternoon in July 1862. On this "golden afternoon" of the verse prologue, the two went rowing on the Thames River with Dodgson's friend the Reverend Robinson Duckworth and Alice's two sisters.



Much of the nonsense in *Alice*, as well as many incidental details, are based on things from mid-nineteenth century English life. The majority of the songs in the book are burlesques of poems and songs popular at the time, and familiar to Carroll's child audience. The last of Alice's adventures, the trial, is based on a then-familiar nursery rhyme. Another device Carroll used was creating incident out of common sayings. The character of the Cheshire Cat, for example, is based on the then-common phrase, "Grin like a Cheshire cat," while the episode of "The Mad Tea-Party" is based on two common expressions, "mad as a hatter" and "mad as a March hare." (the "madness" by which hatters were frequently afflicted was caused by prolonged exposure to mercury, used in the curing of felt, while March in England was the mating season of the hare.)

Certain more "exotic" details attest to the successful ventures of the British Empire: the flamingos, for example, pointed to missionary and colonial expansion in Africa. The hookah-smoking Caterpillar was evidence of a very profitable and still encouraged trade in opium with China; Sir Arthur Conan Doyle's fictional detective Sherlock Holmes, for example, was addicted to opium.

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland can be characterized as a funhouse mirror version of a child's "journey" through the "adult" world, specifically the world of upper-class Victorian England. One of the main things that the child must grapple with on such a journey, and one of the principal themes that Alice takes up, is the question of his/her identity in that world. "Who are you?" Alice is frequently asked early in her adventures, and it is a question that she at first has a difficult time answering. Her initial erratic changes in size could be said to represent her inability to "fit" herself into this world. Her mastery of this process enables her to begin to be the master of her own destiny - to "fit," by enabling her to walk through the door that leads to the "beautiful garden," which she has wanted to enter since the beginning of her adventures.

This garden is hardly a Garden of Eden, though. Indeed, what Alice is immediately confronted with, the painting of the roses and condemnation to death of the painters by the Queen of Hearts, is an instance of the other principal of *Alice*: the absurdity, even insanity, of the "adult" world from the point of view of the innocent. "We're all mad here," the Cheshire Cat informs her in their famous exchange. This absurdity is frequently little more than a source of amusement to Alice; many times, though, it is a source of grief. Her treatment at the hands of the inhabitants of Wonderland, though brought upon her at times by her childish candor, is often rough, occasionally even cruel, and many times she is reduced to tears. Moreover, her adventures end with an apparent vision of the ultimate injustice of this adult world - the trial - though with her innocent frankness she is able to overcome this injustice, as her body symbolically grows to fill the courtroom.

Yet *Alice* is not political or social satire per se. Carroll may turn the adult world on its head, but there is no sense in the book that he is advocating any substantial changes to things as they are. Moreover, if an absurd, and even at times menacing world, Carroll's England as reflected in Wonderland is a world that can be mastered, suggesting (though some critics have contested this) that it is ultimately a benign world. Despite all the transformations she undergoes, Alice is never harmed, at least in any overt way. Indeed, her self-assured responses to the rough treatment she receives comes from the



confidence - fortified by her class position - that "God's in His Heaven, all's right with the world."

Source: Stan Walker, in an essay for *Novels for Students*, Gale, 1999.



Critical Essay #2

In the following excerpt, Henkle examines Carroll's emphasis on play, including its limitations.

It was just over a hundred years ago that *Through the Looking-Glass*, the second of Lewis Carroll's two Alice books, was published, yet Carroll's fantasy adventures into a little girl's dream worlds have a wider, more responsive audience than they may ever have had. Looking-Glass inversions and Wonderland absurdities give us striking shorthand renditions of the language and behavior of a modern world in which it sometimes seems - to quote the Cheshire Cat - that "I'm mad. You're mad. We're all mad here." André Gregory's recent New York stage version exalted the manic potential of the Alice worlds to black humor proportions. The dry, ingenuous tone and the mix of rebellion and self-indulgence in the Alice books have been made to order for the canny, loose "youth culture" of the last few years; and the psychedelic landscapes that the Jefferson Airplane and others have discovered are stunning enough to cause some people to wonder whether shy, inhibited Charles Lutwidge Dodgson, creator of a hookah-puffing caterpillar and mushrooms that change your size, might not have been surreptitiously in the opiate tradition of Coleridge and DeQuincey.

There is no real evidence that Carroll tripped to hallucinatory worlds, but there are enough indications that Carroll was deliberately probing in the Alice books for a new adult life-style, built around a concept that is close to play, to explain their strong appeal to contemporary readers. Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and Through the Looking-Glass have always led double lives as adult fantasy literature as well as children's classics - Katherine Anne Porter once observed that she found them, in fact, enjoyable only when she read them as an adult - but we have been inclined to look upon them largely as grownup escapes into childhood and not as attempts to define and come to new terms with adult life. William Empson has argued, for instance, that the Alice books reflect the post-Romantic feeling that "there is more in the child than any man has been able to keep." Though Empson adds that Carroll uses Alice to bring out some hardheaded and unsentimental judgments about the foolishness and even puerility of adult behavior, he apparently does not see any sustained and, one might say, "serious" attempt in the Alice books to explore the possibilities of a freer, richer adult life-style. Such a dimension seems, indeed, almost too much to expect of books that we turn to for the whimsy of talking animals, logic games, and parodies.

Yet within the Alice books are explorations of an adult life that venture as far as Carroll could risk going toward freedom from the duties, responsibilities, and arid self-limitations of modern society - and in this aspect we may discover the immediacy of their appeal to contemporary readers. Furthermore, in Carroll's ambiguous feelings toward the relatively stable middle-class society that oppressed him, and in his anxieties about the self-exposure that his nonsense barely cloaked, we discover something of the reasons why writers probing from within a culture turn predominantly to comedy - as they have done in England for a century and a half and in America for the last decade.



One of the pleasures, surely, of reading *Alice in Wonderland* is to witness the absurd and sometimes devastating ways in which a rather too wellbred little girl learns of the caprices of language and logic and of the alarmingly erratic tracks of her own mind. I am going to concentrate here, however, on what may be an even stronger source of its appeal to adult readers, the covert delight that we take in madcap behavior. Much of our enjoyment of all comedy lies in our realization that we, too, would like to play and carry on, just as the adult creatures of *Wonderland* and *Through the Looking-Glass* do. The creatures Alice meets are clearly grown-ups (with the exception of the Tweedles) and they are engaging in pastimes whose allure would seem to be peculiarly to adults.

What a pleasant change the caucus-race would be from the competition of most "games" and adult occupations: "they began running when they liked and left off when they liked," and at the end of the race "everybody has won and all must have prizes." How nice it would be to sit, as the Mock Turtle does, on a shingle by the sea, and sentimentally ruminate on one's experiences - to surrender to all the self-indulgence that seems too rarely possible in modern life. It is always tea-time for the Mad Hatter, the March Hare, and the Dormouse, and people they don't like just aren't invited; "No room! No room!" says the Hare. When Humpty Dumpty uses a word it means what he chooses it to mean, neither more nor less....

The exuberance of play, however, is often deliberately restrained by an arbitrary order of rules in- vented by the player, and this was especially important to Carroll . In this quality of personally devised order - the brief moments in the Alice books of creatures rehearsing their individual delights - one captures the pleasure of personal control of one's life, and perhaps achieves the stasis that so many Victorians sought in a rapidly changing world.

Even more important is the relief play brings from the officious moralizing of other people. The "moral" of *Wonderland* is drawn by the Duchess (although she doesn't practice it): "If everybody minded their own business, the world would go round a deal faster than it does." Victorian comic writers from Thackeray to Butler tried to fend off those ponderous forces that were bent on dictating ethical, social, and even psychological conformity. In moments of play, at least, one can operate, as Johan Huizinga has noted, "outside the antithesis of wisdom and folly ... of good and evil." In later years, Carroll could rhapsodize about his dream- Alice because she was living in the happy hours "when Sin and Sorrow are but names - empty words signifying nothing!" The homiletic hymns and rhymes that Alice tries to recall in *Wonderland* but cannot - "The Old Man's Comforts," "Against Idleness and Mischief," "The Sluggard," and "Speak Gently" - all share three elements: an injunction to be industrious and responsible, the reminder that we shall all grow old, and an invocation of our religious duties. Significantly, these banished thoughts are those we try to forget in play.

Carroll could not forget them for long, however, and Wonderland's imaginative projection as a possible variant life style was at the same time an opportunity to register and somehow "work out" the very anxieties that gave rise to the search for a new life style. In dreams we are often able to do all these things, and *Wonderland* is such a dream.



True to the dream, most things in Wonderland do not happen in a logical and chronological manner. There is no "plot" to the book; instead, dream thoughts pull seemingly disorganized elements together. Almost immediately the anxieties Carroll recorded so often in his diaries come to the surface in the behavior of the White Rabbit, who's late, who's lost his glove, who'll lose his head if he doesn't get to the Duchess' house on time. The Rabbit will later act for the Crown in the surrealistic trial of the knave at the book's end, thereby explicitly linking such social anxieties with the arbitrary punishment and the dread of fury that persistently flashes along hidden circuits of Wonderland's dreaming brain and periodically seizes Alice and the creatures. At the end of the innocuous caucus race, the Mouse tells Alice his "tale"; it is about Fury and it prefigures the terrifying dissolution of the Wonderland dream itself. According to the tale, personified Fury, who this morning has "nothing to do," imperiously decides he'll prosecute the Mouse: "I'll be judge, I'll be jury,' said cunning old Fury; 'I'll try the whole cause and condemn you to death."

Time and again the delights of play are cut off suddenly by such arbitrary violence, for we perceive that play by its nature cannot last. No wonder the Mad Hatter curtly changes the subject when Alice reminds him that he will soon run out of places at the tea-table. Too soon he is dragged into court by the Queen to be badgered and intimidated, despite his pathetic protest "I hadn't quite finished my tea when I was sent for." Play can only temporarily remove us from outside reality, as Carroll himself repeatedly discovered, because authority, society (characterized in those adult women - Queens and Duchesses) will interfere and impose its angry will. This is why I believe it is inaccurate to assert, as Hugh Kenner and Elizabeth Sewell have, that Carroll's books are "closed" works of art, literary game structures that are deliberately isolated and fundamentally unrelated to the Victorian social world outside them. They show, on the contrary, Carroll's reluctant conclusion that totally independent life patterns are impossible and even dangerous, and they are Carroll's paradigms of the way social power is achieved and how it operates in Victorian England.

Inherent in the very freedom of play is its weakness. Functioning by personal whim, it is potentially anarchic, thus vulnerable to the strongest, most brutal will. Halfway through the book, Alice unaccountably must enter Wonderland a second time and she finds its tenor radically different. Instead of the pleasantly free caucus race, she is in a croquet game where "the players all played at once, quarreling all the while." All order has collapsed; hedgehog balls scuttle through the grass, bodiless cats grin in the dusk. And the domineering Queen of Hearts imposes her angry will more and more as she exploits the anarchy of the hapless world of play.

The antics that the mad tea party group, the Caterpillar, and other free souls had been indulging in were, in a word, nonsense. Just as nonsense writing is a form of play activity, play itself - at least as Carroll conceived it - is nonsensical in the context of the "real world"; it has been deliberately deprived of meaning, of any overt social and moral significance. Alice noted at the tea party that "the Hatter's remark seemed to her to have no sort of meaning in it, and yet it was certainly English." At the trial of the knave, however, suddenly there *is* meaning attached to nonsensical actions and statements: it is the meaning that the autocratic Queen wants attached to them, so they can be made



to serve her lust for persecution. The most damning piece of evidence, according to the Crown, is a nonsensical letter purportedly written by the defendant. Alice argues, "I don't believe there's an atom of meaning in it," but the King of Hearts insists, "I seem to see some meaning in [the words] after all." The individuals who assert power in society, Carroll is suggesting, decide what things shall mean. Their whims, prompted and carried out by an irrational fury against people who would be free, dictate our responsibilities, our duties, our guilt, our sins, our punishment.

Here the adult victim's view nicely corresponds to the child's view of grown-up authority. If a child is called to task, told to remember some rule or duty he has forgotten about or never fully realized he was responsible for, he feels like the Mad Hatter, who is told "Don't be nervous, or I'll have you executed on the spot." Justice from a child's perspective often does seem to function like the Queen's: verdict first, guilt later....

The madness in the Alice books is often no more than the "looniness" of children's literature, or a harmless addlepatedness, which Alice usually absorbs with considerable aplomb. But there is a more worrisome dimension to the motif. The hallucinatory qualities of the books, the sudden metamorphoses, the wayward thoughts of cannibalism and dismemberment, the hot flashes of fury, all remind us that in dreams, especially, our minds seem to wander dangerously close to insanity. Throughout his life Carroll displayed a fascination with mental derangement. His long poem, "The Hunting of the Snark," subtitled "An Agony in Eight Fits," takes us imaginatively to the borderline of dissolution: a Baker goes out like a candle at the sight of a boojum snark. An insomniac, Carroll worked off and on at the small book of mathematical "pillow problems" to take the mind, he said, off the "undesired thoughts" that fly into the head in those late-night hours before sleep. And Carroll recorded in his diary the confusion between dream and wakefulness that makes us question our very sanity:

Query: when we are dreaming and, as often happens, have a dim consciousness of the fact and try to wake, do we not say and do things which in waking life would be insane? May we not then sometimes define insanity as an inability to distinguish which is the waking and which the sleeping life?

The psychologist Ernst Kris suggests that the venture into comedy itself is "double-edged," often carrying us near to the most unpleasant and terrifying aspects of existence and non-existence. So often do comic writers from Cervantes to the present play with insanity that we can well wonder about the standard of "common sense" prevalent in comedy; it seems at times to be an attempt to hold onto some generally agreed-upon reality.

All this is not to show that Carroll feared he would go mad, but that he was acutely conscious of the distortions of the human mind. He was preoccupied enough with the train of his own uncanny thoughts to have strong doubts about those potentially anarchic individual life styles that he concocted. He was evidently uneasy about deviation from societal norms. For this reason Alice herself acts in *Wonderland* and *Looking-Glass* as a check on the possibly manic behavior of even the "free" adult creatures like the Hatter and the Hare. She retains throughout a nice balance of self-



control and imagination, which may be, in part, what made pre-adolescent little girls so attractive to Carroll. Even at her most disoriented, Alice can declare firmly that "I'm I." Though Carroll gently spoofs Alice's literal-minded common sense, she serves to remind us that no matter how appealing some of the creatures' life styles are, any sensible child her age must see it all as silly behavior by grown-ups. When the chaos and foolishness of Wonderland get out of hand at the end of the book, it is Alice who becomes the adult by growing in size and authority, and the imaginary creatures appear to be only errant children. Built into the work which vividly and alluringly explores the free behavior patterns that Carroll was attracted to is a perspective that makes it all seem puerile and pathetic, as if Carroll had doubts in his own mind about the sense (as well as the social wisdom) of that life style.

Source: Roger B. Henkle, "The Mad Hatter's World" in *The Virginia Quarterly Review,* Winter, 1973, pp. 99-117.



Critical Essay #3

In the following excerpt, Auerbach suggests that each character Alice meets in her adventures represents a part of Alice's own personality.

Dinah is a strange figure. She is the only above-ground character whom Alice mentions repeatedly, almost always in terms of her eating some smaller animal. She seems finally to function as a personification of Alice's own subtly cannibalistic hunger, as Fury in the Mouse's tale is personified as a dog. At one point, Alice fantasizes her own identity actually blending into Dinah's:

"How queer it seems," Alice said to herself, "to be going messages for a rabbit! I suppose Dinah'll be sending me on messages next!" And she began fancying the sort of thing that would happen: "Miss Alice! Come here directly, and get ready for your walk!" "Coming in a minute, nurse! But I've got to watch this mousehole till Dinah comes back, and see that the mouse doesn't get out."

While Dinah is always in a predatory attitude, most of the Wonderland animals are lugubrious victims; together, they encompass the two sides of animal nature that are in Alice as well. But as she falls down the rabbit hole, Alice senses the complicity between eater and eaten, looking-glass versions of each other:

"Dinah, my dear! I wish you were down here with me! There are no mice in the air, I'm afraid, but you might catch a bat, and that's very like a mouse, you know. But do cats eat bats, I wonder?" And here Alice began to get rather sleepy, and went on saying to herself, in a dreamy sort of way, "Do cats eat bats? Do cats eat bats?" and sometimes, "Do bats eat cats?" for, you see, as she couldn't answer either question, it didn't matter which way she put it.

We are already half-way to the final banquet of *Looking-Glass*, in which the food comes alive and begins to eat the guests.

Even when Dinah is not mentioned, Alice's attitude toward the animals she encounters is often one of casual cruelty. It is a measure of Dodgson's ability to flatten out Carroll's material that the prefatory poem could describe Alice "in friendly chat with bird or beast," or that he would later see Alice as "loving as a dog ... gentle as a fawn." She pities Bill the Lizard and kicks him up the chimney, a state of mind that again looks forward to that of the Pecksniffian Walrus in *Looking-Glass*. When she meets the Mock Turtle, the weeping embodiment of a good Victorian dinner, she restrains herself twice when he mentions lobsters, but then distorts Isaac Watt's *Sluggard* into a song about a *baked* lobster surrounded by hungry sharks. In its second stanza, a Panther shares a pie with an Owl who then becomes dessert, as Dodgson's good table manners pass into typical Carrollian cannibalism. The more sinister and Darwinian aspects of animal nature are introduced into Wonderland by the gentle Alice, in part through projections of her hunger onto Dinah and the "nice little dog" (she meets a "dear little puppy" after she has grown small and is afraid he will eat her up) and in part through the semi-cannibalistic appetite



her songs express. With the exception of the powerful Cheshire Cat, whom I shall discuss below; most of the Wonderland animals stand in some danger of being exploited or eaten. The Dormouse is their prototype: he is fussy and cantankerous, with the nastiness of a self-aware victim, and he is stuffed into a teapot as the Mock Turtle, sobbing out his own elegy, will be stuffed into a tureen.

Alice's courteously menacing relationship to these animals is more clearly brought out in Alice's Adventures under Ground, in which she encounters only animals until she meets the playing cards, who are lightly sketched-in versions of their later counterparts. When expanding the manuscript for publication, Carroll added the Frog Footman, Cook, Duchess, Pig-Baby, Cheshire Cat, Mad Hatter, March Hare, and Dormouse, as well as making the Queen of Hearts a more fully developed character than she was in the manuscript. In other words, all the human or guasi-human characters were added in revision, and all develop aspects of Alice that exist only under the surface of her dialogue. The Duchess' household also turns inside out the domesticated Wordsworthian ideal: with baby and pepper flung about indiscriminately, pastoral tranquility is inverted into a whirlwind of savage sexuality. The furious Cook embodies the equation between eating and killing that underlies Alice's apparently innocent remarks about Dinah. The violent Duchess' unctuous search for "the moral" of things echoes Alice's own violence and search for "the rules." At the Mad Tea Party, the Hatter extends Alice's "great interest in questions of eating and drinking" into an insane modus vivendi; like Alice, the Hatter and the Duchess sing savage songs about eating that embody the underside of Victorian literary treacle. The Queen's croquet game magnifies Alice's own desire to cheat at croquet and to punish herself violently for doing so. Its use of live animals may be a subtler extension of Alice's own desire to twist the animal kingdom to the absurd rules of civilization, which seem to revolve largely around eating and being eaten. Alice is able to appreciate the Queen's savagery so guickly because her size changes have made her increasingly aware of who she, herself, is from the point of view of a Caterpillar, a Mouse, a Pigeon, and, especially, a Cheshire Cat.

The Cheshire Cat, also a late addition to the book, is the only figure other than Alice who encompasses all the others. William Empson [in Some Versions of Pastoral, 1950] discusses at length the spiritual kinship between Alice and the Cat, the only creature in Wonderland whom she calls her "friend." Florence Becker Lennon [in The Life of Lewis Carroll. 1962], refers to the Cheshire Cat as "Dinah's dream-self" and we have noticed the subtle shift of identities between Alice and Dinah throughout the story. The Cat shares Alice's equivocal placidity: "The Cat only grinned when it saw Alice. It looked good-natured, she thought: still it had very long claws and a great many teeth, so she felt it ought to be treated with respect." The Cat is the only creature to make explicit the identification between Alice and the madness of Wonderland: "... we're all mad here. I'm mad. You're mad. "How do you know I'm mad?' said Alice. 'You must be.' said the Cat. 'or you wouldn't have come here.' Alice didn't think that proved it at all...." Although Alice cannot accept it and closes into silence, the Cat's remark may be the answer she has been groping toward in her incessant question, "who am I?" As an alter ego, the Cat is wiser than Alice - and safer - because he is the only character in the book who is aware of his own madness. In his serene acceptance of the fury within and without, his total



control over his appearance and disappearance, he almost suggests a post-analytic version of the puzzled Alice.

As Alice dissolves increasingly into Wonderland, so the Cat dissolves into his own head, and finally into his own grinning mouth. The core of Alice's nature, too, seems to lie in her mouth: the eating and drinking that direct her size changes and motivate much of her behavior, the songs and verses that pop out of her inadvertently, are all involved with things entering and leaving her mouth. Alice's first song introduces a sinister image of a grinning mouth. Our memory of the Crocodile's grin hovers over the later description of the Cat's "grin without a Cat," and colors our sense of Alice's infallible good manners:

How cheerfully he seems to grin, How neatly spreads his claws, And welcomes little fishes in, With gently smiling jaws!...

When the Duchess' Cook abruptly barks out "Pig!" Alice thinks the word is meant for her, though it is the baby, another fragment of Alice's own nature, who dissolves into a pig. The Mock Turtle's lament for his future soupy self later blends tellingly into the summons for the trial: the lament of the eaten and the call to judgment melt together. When she arrives at the trial, the unregenerate Alice instantly eyes the tarts: "In the very middle of the court was a table, with a large dish of tarts upon it: they looked so good, that it made Alice quite hungry to look at them - 'I wish they'd get the trial done,' she thought, 'and hand round the refreshments!" Her hunger links her to the hungry Knave who is being sentenced: in typically ambiguous portmanteau fashion. Carroll makes the trial both a pre-Orwellian travesty of justice and an objective correlative of a real sense of sin. Like the dog Fury in the Mouse's tale, Alice takes all the parts. But unlike Fury, she is accused as well as accuser, melting into judge, jury, witness, and defendant; the person who boxes on the ears as well as the person who "cheats." Perhaps the final verdict would tell Alice who she is at last, but if it did, Wonderland would threaten to overwhelm her. Before it comes, she "grows"; the parts of her nature rush back together; combining the voices of victim and accuser, she gives "a little scream, half of fright and half of anger," and wakes up.

Presented from the point of view of her older sister's sentimental pietism, the world to which Alice awakens seems far more dream-like and hazy than the sharp contours of Wonderland. Alice's lesson about her own identity has never been stated explicitly for the stammerer Dodgson was able to talk freely only in his private language of puns and nonsense, but a Wonderland pigeon points us toward it:

"You're a serpent; and there's no use denying it. I suppose you'll be telling me next that you never tasted an egg!""I have tasted eggs, certainly," said Alice, who was a very truthful child; "but little girls eat eggs quite as much as serpents do, you know.""I don't believe it," said the Pigeon; "but if they do, why, then they're a kind of serpent: that's all I



can say." This was such a new idea to Alice, that she was quite silent for a minute or two ...

Like so many of her silences throughout the book, Alice's silence here is charged with significance, reminding us again that an important technique in learning to read Carroll is our ability to interpret his private system of symbols and signals and to appreciate the many meanings of silence. In this scene, the golden child herself becomes the serpent in childhood's Eden. The eggs she eats suggest the woman she will become, the unconscious cannibalism involved in the very fact of eating and desire to eat, and finally, the charmed circle of childhood itself. Only in *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* was Carroll able to fall all the way through the rabbit hole to the point where top and bottom become one, bats and cats melt into each other, and the vessel of innocence and purity is also the source of inescapable corruption.

Source: Nina Auerbach, "Alice and Wonderland: A Curious Child," in *Victorian Studies*, September, 1973, pp. 31-47.



Adaptations

Alice's Adventures in Wonderland came to the stage quite early in its history. Carroll himself wrote about an early stage version of his story, written by Henry Savile Clarke and produced in London in November, 1886, in a late article entitled "Alice on the Stage." Later dramatizations produced under the title Alice in Wonderland, but usually based on both Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and Through the Looking-Glass and What Alice Found There, include adaptations by Eva Le Gallienne and Florida Friebus, Samuel French, 1932; by Madge Miller, Children's Theatre Press, 1953; and by Anne Coulter Martens, Dramatic Publishing, 1965.

But Never Jam Today, an African American adaptation for the stage, was written in 1969. Other dramatic adaptations include Alice and Through the Looking Glass by Stephen Moore, 1980; Alice, by Michael Lancy, 1983; Alice, a Wonderland Book, by R. Surrette, 1983; and Alice (a ballet) by Glen Tetley, 1986.

The first movie featuring Alice was Alice in Wonderland, produced by Maienthau, 1914, featuring Alice Savoy. Another was produced the following year by Nonpareil. Other versions were released by Pathe Studios in 1927 and by Macmillan Audio Brandon Films. The most famous film versions of *Alice* include: the 1933 Paramount version, featuring Charlotte Henry as Alice and a variety of contemporary Paramount stars (including Gary Cooper as the White Knight, Cary Grant as the Mock Turtle, W. C. Fields as Humpty Dumpty, and Edna May Oliver as the Red Queen); a 1950 satirical version by the French company Souvaine; Walt Disney Production's 1951 animated feature film featuring the voice of Kathryn Beaumont as Alice (available from Walt Disney Home Video); another animated feature by Hanna Barbera in 1965, featuring many of their cartoon stars (including Fred Flintstone and Barney Rubble) in leading roles; Alice's Adventures in Wonderland, released by American National in 1972 and featuring Michael Crawford as the White Rabbit, Dudley Moore as the Dormouse, and Peter Sellers as the March Hare (available from Vestron Video); and Alice, a disturbingly surrealistic view of Carroll's universe directed by Jan Svankmajer and released by Film Four in 1988 (available from First Run/Icarus Films).

Among the numerous recordings featuring Alice and produced under the title *Alice in Wonderland* include one from the 1950s narrated by Cyril Ritchard, Wonderland; one narrated by Christopher Casson, Spoken Arts, 1969; one from the 1970s, narrated by Stanley Holloway with Joan Greenwood as the voice of Alice, Caedmon, 1992; one narrated by Flo Gibson, Recorded Books, 1980; one read by William Rushton, Listen for Pleasure, 1981; one read by Christopher Plummer, Caedmon, 1985; an audio CD read by Sir John Gielgud, Nimbus, 1989; a four-cassette unabridged performance by Cybill Shepherd and Lynn Redgrave, Dove Audio, 1995; and a BBC Radio version with Alan Bennett as narrator, Bantam Books Audio, 1997. A recording of Eva Le Galienne's stage adaptation *Alice in Wonderland*, featuring Bambi Linn as Alice, was released by RCA Victor in the 1940s. Several other records were also released in connection with the Disney film.



A number of television adaptations of the "Alice" books have also been made. In 1955, NBC television broadcast the Eva Le Gallienne and Florida Friebus stage play on "The Hallmark Hall of Fame." The television version featured Gillian Barber as Alice, Martyn Green as the White Rabbit, puppeteer Burr Tillstrum as the Cheshire Cat, Elsa Lancaster as the Red Queen, and coauthor Le Gallienne as the White Queen. A television special entitled "Alice through the Looking Glass" was broadcast on NBC in 1966; it was a musical and featured Jimmy Durante as Humpty Dumpty, and Tom and Dick Smothers as Tweedledum and Tweedledee. Another allstar television adaptation featured Red Buttons, Ringo Starr, Sammy Davis Jr., Steve Allen, Anthony Newley, Steve Lawrence, and Eydie Gorme. It aired in 1985 and is available on video from Facets Multimedia.



Topics for Further Study

Make a chart of the sequence of events in *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*. Many critics find a definite pattern to Alice's adventures. Do you agree with them? Explain why or why not, and give examples from the text to support your argument.

One of the chief characteristics of Wonderland is its twisted logic. Read Carroll's books on *Symbolic Logic* and *The Game of Logic* and compare Carroll's concept of logic in these books to that in *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*.

Compare Alice's Adventures in Wonderland to other Victorian works of fantasy, including John Ruskin's *The King of the Golden River* and Jean Ingelow's *Mopsa the Fairy*. How does Alice compare to these books?

Research the roles of women and children in Victorian England during the period when *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland* was written. Write a diary of what daily life might have been like for the real Alice, and include what her expectations for the future might have been.



What Do I Read Next?

The roughly contemporary fairy tales of the Danish novelist Hans Christian Andersen (available in many editions), which established a Victorian passion for fairy stories.

John Ruskin's *The King of the Golden River* (1851), a classic Victorian fairy tale that, like *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*, was originally written for a little girl. Ruskin was at one time an instructor for Alice Liddell.

The Victorian wordplay of Edward Lear, contained in A Book of Nonsense (1846), Nonsense Songs, Stories, Botany, and Alphabets (1871), More Nonsense, Pictures, Rhymes, Botany, Etc. (1872), Laughable Lyrics: A Fourth Book of Nonsense Poems, Songs, Botany, Music, Etc. (1877), and Nonsense Songs and Stories (1895).

George Macdonald's allegorical fairy tale about growing up and coming to sexual maturity, *The Golden Key* (1867).

Victorian poet Christina Rossetti's famous narrative poem "Goblin Market" (1862), which, like the "Alice" books, is outwardly for children, but nonetheless deals with many adult themes— particularly repressed sexuality.

The American fairy tales of L. Frank Baum, including *The Wonderful Wizard of Oz* (1900) and its many sequels.

Gilbert Adair's *Alice through the Needle's Eye* (1984), a modern attempt to add to the "Alice" stories.



Topics for Discussion

- 1. Characterize Alice. How old is she? Does her character change during the story? If so, how?
- 2. Describe the Cheshire Cat. What makes this character important? Why?
- 3. Alice confronts the Duchess about her treatment of the pig-baby. Alice eventually finds comfort in her relationship with the Duchess. Describe the tension between the Duchess and Alice. How does the Duchess support Alice?
- 4. Cite two of the peculiar events in the novel. Why did the author include them? What purpose do they serve in the fairy-tale?
- 5. John Tenniel illustrated Alice's Adventures in Wonderland for Carroll. How do the illustrations support the story and characters? Would the story be as effective without them?
- 6. Alice changes sizes throughout the novel. Write down each time she changes size, and what mechanism she uses to do it. Note any patterns in the changes.
- 7. Carroll, age thirty, told the story of Alice in Wonderland one summery day on a boat journey with friend Duckworth and the three Liddell sisters. Carroll made Alice, one of the Liddell children, the protagonist. Cite the other references Carroll makes in the novel to his real-life friends.
- 8. Cheshire Cat. Courtier. Derision. Dodo. Gryphon. Treacle. Uglification. The author uses many uncommon words like these to enhance his story. Do you think this kind of writing style adds to the fairy-tale? How?
- 9. What is the significance of the title Alice's Adventures in Wonderland? Characterize Wonderland. What makes it believable? Absurd?
- 10. Locate examples of nonsense verse and rhyme. Discuss the author's use of these literary qualities.



Ideas for Reports and Papers

- 1. Research nineteenth-century Oxford, during the time Carroll lived. What events and traditions are typical? How did Carroll weave them into the novel?
- 2. Imagine that Carroll wrote the book with a small boy as the protagonist instead of Alice. How would the story change?
- 3. Research Carroll's life. How did he become, and stay, a prolific writer? What makes him famous? Why did he use a pen name? How did he choose it?
- 4. Experiment. Write a story using Carroll's fairy-tale style. Use as many believable yet unusual characters as you can. Share it with the class.
- 5. Carroll employs many rhymes and nonsense verses. Write your own rhyme or nonsense verse and share it with the class.
- 6. The King and Queen of Hearts manage the kingdom of Wonderland. Describe how their roles mirror the practices of 19th-century England and Carroll's traditional upbringing.
- 7. Research John Tenniel's life. What characteristics contributed to his excellent artistry? Why did the author choose Tenniel to illustrate his story?
- 8. Carroll applies uncommon words to add to the entertainment and uniqueness of his story. He uses curious creatures for characters. Look up five new words in the dictionary, including creatures, and write a short story employing them.
- 9. The author employs detailed descriptions. For example: "The Fish-Footman began by producing from under his arm a great letter, nearly as large as himself, and this he handed over to the other, saying, in a solemn tone ... " Describe an event using descriptions to enable readers to experience it.
- 10. Research the process of Carroll's novel from its inception on the riverboat ride with the Liddells until its publication.



Further Study

Daniel Binova, "Alice the Child-imperialist and the Games of Wonderland," in *Nineteenth Century Literature*, Vol. 41, No. 2, September 1986, pp. 143-171.

Reading *Alice* in the context of Victorian imperialism, Binova argues that Alice behaves as an "imperialist" by attempting to force the behavior of the creatures she encounters to fit the "rules" for such behavior as she understands them. He concludes that Carroll is critiquing the ethnocentric attitude that underlies such an attempt.

Kathleen Blake, *Play, Games, and Sport: The Literary Works of Lewis Carroll,* Cornell University Press, 1974.

Blake's work examines the many ways in which Carroll's works play with the reader.

Kathleen Blake, "Lewis Carroll (Charles Lutwidge Dodgson)," in *Concise Dictionary of British Literary Biography, Volume 4: Victorian Writers, 1832-1890*, Gale, 1991, pp. 111-28.

A brief biographical and critical survey of Carroll's life and works.

Harold Bloom, editor, *Lewis Carroll*, Modern Critical Views series, Chelsea House, 1987.

A useful compilation of essays that contains several pieces on the Alice books, including a feminist psychoanalytic reading of the character of Alice by Nina Auerbach and a discussion of Carroll's "philosophy" by Peter Heath.

Lewis Carroll, *Alice's Adventures Under Ground*, Facsimile edition, Dover Publications, 1965.

A reprint of the author's manuscript, produced by hand (including drawings and other illustrations by Carroll himself) for Alice Liddell. The Dover edition also includes some information from the 1886 facsimile edition of the manuscript.

Lewis Carroll, *Alice in Wonderland: Authoritative Texts of Alice's Adventures in Wonderland, Through the Looking- Glass, The Hunting of the Snark,* edited by Donald J. Gray, Norton, 1971.

The Norton Critical Edition of Carroll's most famous works presents a text with footnotes, excerpts from Carroll's diaries, appreciations by some of his friends (including Alice Liddell, the model for Alice), and a selection of the most important criticism of the author's work.

Lewis Carroll, "Alice on the Stage," in *The Theatre*, April, 1887.

In this article, Carroll himself describes the chief characteristics of his "Alice" character.



Charles Frey and John Griffith, "Lewis Carroll: Alice's Adventures in Wonderland," in their *The Literary Heritage of Childhood: An Appraisal of Children's Classics in the Western Tradition*, Greenwood Press, 1987, pp. 15-22.

In their article Frey and Griffith survey some of the ways critics have chosen to read *Alice's Adventures in Wonderland*.

Jean Gattegno, *Lewis Carroll: Fragments of a Looking- Glass*, translated by Rosemary Sheed, Crowell, 1976.

This work takes a thematic approach to various aspects of Carroll's life and work.

Edward Guiliano, editor, Lewis Carroll: A Celebration, Clarkson N. Potter, 1982.

A collection of essays compiled for the 150th anniversary of Carroll's birth, several of which focus on Alice. Among them are Terry Otten's discussion of Alice's "innocence," Nina Demurova's consideration of Alice's genre, and Roger Henkle's argument that the Alice books are "forerunners of the modernist novel."

Richard Kelly, Lewis Carroll, revised edition, Twayne, 1990.

Kelly touches the main bases of Carroll's life and works in this survey. His chapter on the Alice books goes through both works episode by episode, offering critical perspectives as he does so.

James R. Kincaid, "Alice's Invasion of Wonderland," in *PMLA (Publications of the Modern Language Association of America)*, Vol. 88, No. 1, January 1973, pp. 92-99.

Kincaid argues that Carroll's own attitudes toward both Alice and the worlds she visits in *Alice* and Looking Glass are highly ambivalent.

Florence Becker Lennon, *Victoria through the Looking- Glass: The Life of Lewis Carroll,* Simon & Schuster, 1945.

Although this biography is more than fifty years old and its biographical details have been superseded by more recent scholarship, it does help place Carroll in the context of his time and provide a survey of earlier criticism.

Robert Phillips, editor, Aspects of Alice: Lewis Carroll's Dreamchild as Seen through the Critics' Looking-Glasses, 1865-1971, Vanquard Press, 1971.

A survey of critical evaluations of Carroll's work, including personal and biographical criticism, comparisons of Carroll with other Victorians and other writers, and philosophical, Freudian, Jungian and other interpretations of *Alice*.

Phyllis Gila Reinstein, *Alice in Context*, Garland Publishing, 1988.



Reinstein places *Alice* and *Looking-Glass* in the context of Victorian children's literature. She argues that Carroll's books, unlike their predecessors, do not "capitulate at one point or another to the pressures of their society," but instead "consistently offer amusement without intending instruction".



Related Websites

Lewis Carroll Home Page, http://landow.stg.brown.edu/victorian/carroll/carrollov.html. Essays on the social and political content of the Alice books and Carroll's biography.

Lewis Carroll Home Page, http://www.lewiscarroll.org. Web site with text, academic information, societies, news, and pieces about Carroll.



Bibliography

Morton N. Cohen, Lewis Carroll: A Biography, Alfred A. Knopf, 1995.

Martin Gardner, editor and author of notes, *The Annotated Alice: Alice's Adventures in Wonderland and Through the Looking-Glass by Lewis Carroll, Bramhall House, 1960.*



Copyright Information

This Premium Study Guide is an offprint from *Novels for Students*.

Project Editor

David Galens

Editorial

Sara Constantakis, Elizabeth A. Cranston, Kristen A. Dorsch, Anne Marie Hacht, Madeline S. Harris, Arlene Johnson, Michelle Kazensky, Ira Mark Milne, Polly Rapp, Pam Revitzer, Mary Ruby, Kathy Sauer, Jennifer Smith, Daniel Toronto, Carol Ullmann

Research

Michelle Campbell, Nicodemus Ford, Sarah Genik, Tamara C. Nott, Tracie Richardson

Data Capture

Beverly Jendrowski

Permissions

Mary Ann Bahr, Margaret Chamberlain, Kim Davis, Debra Freitas, Lori Hines, Jackie Jones, Jacqueline Key, Shalice Shah-Caldwell

Imaging and Multimedia

Randy Bassett, Dean Dauphinais, Robert Duncan, Leitha Etheridge-Sims, Mary Grimes, Lezlie Light, Jeffrey Matlock, Dan Newell, Dave Oblender, Christine O'Bryan, Kelly A. Quin, Luke Rademacher, Robyn V. Young

Product Design

Michelle DiMercurio, Pamela A. E. Galbreath, Michael Logusz

Manufacturing

Stacy Melson

©1997-2002; ©2002 by Gale. Gale is an imprint of The Gale Group, Inc., a division of Thomson Learning, Inc.

Gale and Design® and Thomson Learning™ are trademarks used herein under license.

For more information, contact
The Gale Group, Inc
27500 Drake Rd.
Farmington Hills, MI 48334-3535
Or you can visit our Internet site at
http://www.gale.com

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

No part of this work covered by the copyright hereon may be reproduced or used in any



form or by any means—graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, Web distribution or information storage retrieval systems—without the written permission of the publisher.

For permission to use material from this product, submit your request via Web at http://www.gale-edit.com/permissions, or you may download our Permissions Request form and submit your request by fax or mail to:

Permissions Department
The Gale Group, Inc
27500 Drake Rd.
Farmington Hills, MI 48331-3535

Permissions Hotline:

248-699-8006 or 800-877-4253, ext. 8006

Fax: 248-699-8074 or 800-762-4058

Since this page cannot legibly accommodate all copyright notices, the acknowledgments constitute an extension of the copyright notice.

While every effort has been made to secure permission to reprint material and to ensure the reliability of the information presented in this publication, The Gale Group, Inc. does not guarantee the accuracy of the data contained herein. The Gale Group, Inc. accepts no payment for listing; and inclusion in the publication of any organization, agency, institution, publication, service, or individual does not imply endorsement of the editors or publisher. Errors brought to the attention of the publisher and verified to the satisfaction of the publisher will be corrected in future editions.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Encyclopedia of Popular Fiction: "Social Concerns", "Thematic Overview", "Techniques", "Literary Precedents", "Key Questions", "Related Titles", "Adaptations", "Related Web Sites". © 1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Guide to Literature for Young Adults: "About the Author", "Overview", "Setting", "Literary Qualities", "Social Sensitivity", "Topics for Discussion", "Ideas for Reports and Papers". © 1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

Introduction

Purpose of the Book

The purpose of Novels for Students (NfS) is to provide readers with a guide to understanding, enjoying, and studying novels by giving them easy access to information about the work. Part of Gale's For Students Literature line, NfS is specifically designed to meet the curricular needs of high school and undergraduate college students and their teachers, as well as the interests of general readers and researchers considering specific novels. While each volume contains entries on \Box classic \Box novels



frequently studied in classrooms, there are also entries containing hard-to-find information on contemporary novels, including works by multicultural, international, and women novelists.

The information covered in each entry includes an introduction to the novel and the novel's author; a plot summary, to help readers unravel and understand the events in a novel; descriptions of important characters, including explanation of a given character's role in the novel as well as discussion about that character's relationship to other characters in the novel; analysis of important themes in the novel; and an explanation of important literary techniques and movements as they are demonstrated in the novel.

In addition to this material, which helps the readers analyze the novel itself, students are also provided with important information on the literary and historical background informing each work. This includes a historical context essay, a box comparing the time or place the novel was written to modern Western culture, a critical overview essay, and excerpts from critical essays on the novel. A unique feature of NfS is a specially commissioned critical essay on each novel, targeted toward the student reader.

To further aid the student in studying and enjoying each novel, information on media adaptations is provided, as well as reading suggestions for works of fiction and nonfiction on similar themes and topics. Classroom aids include ideas for research papers and lists of critical sources that provide additional material on the novel.

Selection Criteria

The titles for each volume of NfS were selected by surveying numerous sources on teaching literature and analyzing course curricula for various school districts. Some of the sources surveyed included: literature anthologies; Reading Lists for College-Bound Students: The Books Most Recommended by America's Top Colleges; textbooks on teaching the novel; a College Board survey of novels commonly studied in high schools; a National Council of Teachers of English (NCTE) survey of novels commonly studied in high schools: the NCTE's Teaching Literature in High School: The Novel; and the Young Adult Library Services Association (YALSA) list of best books for young adults of the past twenty-five years. Input was also solicited from our advisory board, as well as educators from various areas. From these discussions, it was determined that each volume should have a mix of □classic□ novels (those works commonly taught in literature classes) and contemporary novels for which information is often hard to find. Because of the interest in expanding the canon of literature, an emphasis was also placed on including works by international, multicultural, and women authors. Our advisory board members □educational professionals □ helped pare down the list for each volume. If a work was not selected for the present volume, it was often noted as a possibility for a future volume. As always, the editor welcomes suggestions for titles to be included in future volumes.

How Each Entry Is Organized



Each entry, or chapter, in NfS focuses on one novel. Each entry heading lists the full name of the novel, the author's name, and the date of the novel's publication. The following elements are contained in each entry:

- Introduction: a brief overview of the novel which provides information about its first appearance, its literary standing, any controversies surrounding the work, and major conflicts or themes within the work.
- Author Biography: this section includes basic facts about the author's life, and focuses on events and times in the author's life that inspired the novel in question.
- Plot Summary: a factual description of the major events in the novel. Lengthy summaries are broken down with subheads.
- Characters: an alphabetical listing of major characters in the novel. Each character name is followed by a brief to an extensive description of the character's role in the novel, as well as discussion of the character's actions, relationships, and possible motivation. Characters are listed alphabetically by last name. If a character is unnamed for instance, the narrator in Invisible Man-the character is listed as □The Narrator □ and alphabetized as □Narrator.□ If a character's first name is the only one given, the name will appear alphabetically by that name. □ Variant names are also included for each character. Thus, the full name □Jean Louise Finch □ would head the listing for the narrator of To Kill a Mockingbird, but listed in a separate cross-reference would be the nickname □Scout Finch.□
- Themes: a thorough overview of how the major topics, themes, and issues are addressed within the novel. Each theme discussed appears in a separate subhead, and is easily accessed through the boldface entries in the Subject/Theme Index.
- Style: this section addresses important style elements of the novel, such as setting, point of view, and narration; important literary devices used, such as imagery, foreshadowing, symbolism; and, if applicable, genres to which the work might have belonged, such as Gothicism or Romanticism. Literary terms are explained within the entry, but can also be found in the Glossary.
- Historical Context: This section outlines the social, political, and cultural climate
 in which the author lived and the novel was created. This section may include
 descriptions of related historical events, pertinent aspects of daily life in the
 culture, and the artistic and literary sensibilities of the time in which the work was
 written. If the novel is a historical work, information regarding the time in which
 the novel is set is also included. Each section is broken down with helpful
 subheads.
- Critical Overview: this section provides background on the critical reputation of the novel, including bannings or any other public controversies surrounding the work. For older works, this section includes a history of how the novel was first received and how perceptions of it may have changed over the years; for more recent novels, direct quotes from early reviews may also be included.
- Criticism: an essay commissioned by NfS which specifically deals with the novel and is written specifically for the student audience, as well as excerpts from previously published criticism on the work (if available).



- Sources: an alphabetical list of critical material quoted in the entry, with full bibliographical information.
- Further Reading: an alphabetical list of other critical sources which may prove useful for the student. Includes full bibliographical information and a brief annotation.

In addition, each entry contains the following highlighted sections, set apart from the main text as sidebars:

- Media Adaptations: a list of important film and television adaptations of the novel, including source information. The list also includes stage adaptations, audio recordings, musical adaptations, etc.
- Topics for Further Study: a list of potential study questions or research topics dealing with the novel. This section includes questions related to other disciplines the student may be studying, such as American history, world history, science, math, government, business, geography, economics, psychology, etc.
- Compare and Contrast Box: an □at-a-glance□ comparison of the cultural and historical differences between the author's time and culture and late twentieth century/early twenty-first century Western culture. This box includes pertinent parallels between the major scientific, political, and cultural movements of the time or place the novel was written, the time or place the novel was set (if a historical work), and modern Western culture. Works written after 1990 may not have this box.
- What Do I Read Next?: a list of works that might complement the featured novel
 or serve as a contrast to it. This includes works by the same author and others,
 works of fiction and nonfiction, and works from various genres, cultures, and
 eras.

Other Features

NfS includes □The Informed Dialogue: Interacting with Literature,□ a foreword by Anne Devereaux Jordan, Senior Editor for Teaching and Learning Literature (TALL), and a founder of the Children's Literature Association. This essay provides an enlightening look at how readers interact with literature and how Novels for Students can help teachers show students how to enrich their own reading experiences.

A Cumulative Author/Title Index lists the authors and titles covered in each volume of the NfS series.

A Cumulative Nationality/Ethnicity Index breaks down the authors and titles covered in each volume of the NfS series by nationality and ethnicity.

A Subject/Theme Index, specific to each volume, provides easy reference for users who may be studying a particular subject or theme rather than a single work. Significant subjects from events to broad themes are included, and the entries pointing to the specific theme discussions in each entry are indicated in boldface.



Each entry has several illustrations, including photos of the author, stills from film adaptations (if available), maps, and/or photos of key historical events.

Citing Novels for Students

When writing papers, students who quote directly from any volume of Novels for Students may use the following general forms. These examples are based on MLA style; teachers may request that students adhere to a different style, so the following examples may be adapted as needed. When citing text from NfS that is not attributed to a particular author (i.e., the Themes, Style, Historical Context sections, etc.), the following format should be used in the bibliography section:

□Night.□ Novels for Students. Ed. Marie Rose Napierkowski. Vol. 4. Detroit: Gale, 1998. 234-35.
When quoting the specially commissioned essay from NfS (usually the first piece under the \square Criticism \square subhead), the following format should be used:
Miller, Tyrus. Critical Essay on □Winesburg, Ohio.□ Novels for Students. Ed. Marie Rose Napierkowski. Vol. 4. Detroit: Gale, 1998. 335-39.

When quoting a journal or newspaper essay that is reprinted in a volume of NfS, the following form may be used:

Malak, Amin. □Margaret Atwood's □The Handmaid's Tale and the Dystopian Tradition,□ Canadian Literature No. 112 (Spring, 1987), 9-16; excerpted and reprinted in Novels for Students, Vol. 4, ed. Marie Rose Napierkowski (Detroit: Gale, 1998), pp. 133-36.

When quoting material reprinted from a book that appears in a volume of NfS, the following form may be used:

Adams, Timothy Dow. □Richard Wright: □Wearing the Mask,□ in Telling Lies in Modern American Autobiography (University of North Carolina Press, 1990), 69-83; excerpted and reprinted in Novels for Students, Vol. 1, ed. Diane Telgen (Detroit: Gale, 1997), pp. 59-61.

We Welcome Your Suggestions

The editor of Novels for Students welcomes your comments and ideas. Readers who wish to suggest novels to appear in future volumes, or who have other suggestions, are cordially invited to contact the editor. You may contact the editor via email at: ForStudentsEditors@gale.com. Or write to the editor at:

Editor, Novels for Students Gale Group 27500 Drake Road Farmington Hills, MI 48331-3535